	MINISTRY OF FINANCE
	
	SOCIALIST REPUBLIC OF VIETNAM

	---*---
	
	Independence - Freedom - Happiness

	No. 12/2005/QD-BTC
	
	------------------------------------------------

	
	
	Hanoi, February 15, 2005


DECISION OF THE MINISTER OF FINANCE

On the Issuance and Publication of

Six Vietnamese Standards on Accounting (Batch 4)
MINISTER OF FINANCE
- Pursuant to the Law on Accounting No. 03/2003/QH11 dated June 17, 2003;

- Pursuant to Governmental Decree No. 86/2002/ND-CP dated November 5, 1993 on the functions, jurisdictions and organization of ministries and ministry-level agencies;
- Pursuant to Governmental Decree No. 77/2003/ND-CP dated July 1, 2003 on the functions, jurisdictions and organization of the Ministry of Finance;
- In response to the requirement of economic and financial management reform, improvement of the qulaity of accounting information provided in the mantional economy and examination and verification of accounting practice.
Upon the proposal of the Director of the Accounting and Auditing Policy Department and Chief of the Ministry Office,
DECIDES:
Article 1. To issue six (06) Vietnamese Standards on Accounting (Batch 4) with the codes and titles specified:
	1. Standard No. 17   -
	Income Taxes

	2. Standard No. 22   -
	Disclosures in Financial Statements of Banks and Similar Financial Institutions

	3. Standard No. 23  -
	Events after the Balance Sheet Date

	4. Standard No. 27  -
	Interim Financial Reporting

	5. Standard No. 28   -
	Segment Reporting

	6. Standard No. 29 -
	Changes in Accounting Policies, Accounting Estimates and Errors


Article 2. Six (06) Vietnamese Standards on Accounting issued folowing this decision shall be applicable nation-wide to enterprises of all industries and economic sectors.
Article 3. This Decision shall come into effect 15 days after it is published in the Gazette. Individual accounting regulations and systems shall be amended and supplemented in accordance with the six (06) Vietnamese Standards on Accounting issued hereby.
Article 4. The Director of the Accounting and Auditing Policy Department, the Ministry Office Chief, and heads of relevant affiliate and subsidiary units of the Ministry of Finance shall be responsible for guiding and overseeing the carrying out of this Decision.
	
	FOR THE MINISTER OF FINANCE

	
	VICE MINISTER

	
	Tran Van Ta (Signed)
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VIETNAMESE STANDARDS ON ACCOUNTING

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

STANDARD 23

events after the balance sheet date

(Issued in pursuance of the Minister of Finance Decision No. 12/2005/QD-BTC 


dated 15 February 2005)

GENERAL

01. The objective of this standard is to prescribe and provide guidelines for cases when an enterprise should adjust its financial statements, principles and method to adjust the financial statements for events after the balance sheet date and disclosures about the date when the financial statements were authorized for issue and about events after the balance sheets date.  

If events occurring after the balance sheet date indicate that the going concern assumption is not appropriate the enterprise should not prepare its financial statements on a “going concern” basis.


02. This Standard should be applied in the accounting for, and disclosure of, events after the balance sheet date.


03. The following terms are used in this Standard with the meanings specified:

Events after the balance sheet date are those events, both favourable or unfavourable, that occur between the balance sheet date and the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue. 


Two types of events can be identified:

(a) Adjusting events after the balance sheet date: those events that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the balance sheet date.  


(b) Non-Adjusting events after the balance sheet date: those events that are indicative of conditions that arose after the balance sheet date.


The date when the financial statements were authorized for issue is: The date when the enterprise’s Finance Director (or someone who is authorized by the Finance Director) signs on financial statements for distributing to external parties.  


04. The process involved in authorising the financial statements for issue will vary depending upon the management structure, statutory requirements and procedures followed in preparing and finalising the financial statements.


05. Events after the balance sheet date include all events up to the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue.


CONTENT

Recognition and measurement

Adjusting events after the balance sheet date

06. An enterprise should adjust the amounts recognised in its financial statements to reflect adjusting events after the balance sheet date.

07. The following are examples of adjusting events after the balance sheet date that require an enterprise to adjust the amounts recognised in its financial statements, or to recognise items that were not previously recognised:


(a) The resolution after the balance sheet date of a court case which, because it confirms that an enterprise already had a present obligation at the balance sheet date, requires the enterprise to adjust a provision already recognised, or to recognise a new provision or recognize new receivables or payables;


(b) The receipt of information after the balance sheet date indicating that an asset was impaired at the balance sheet date, or that the amount of a previously recognised impairment loss for that asset needs to be adjusted. For example:


 (i) the bankruptcy of a customer which occurs after the balance sheet date  usually confirms that a loss already existed at the balance sheet date on a trade receivable account;


 (ii)the sale of inventories after the balance sheet date may give evidence about their net realisable value at the balance sheet date;


(c) The determination after the balance sheet date of the cost of assets purchased, or the proceeds from assets sold before the balance sheet date;


(d) The discovery of fraud or errors that show that the financial statements were incorrect.


Non-adjusting events after the balance sheet date


08. An enterprise should not adjust the amounts recognised in its financial statements to reflect non-adjusting events after the balance sheet date.

09. An example of a non-adjusting event after the balance sheet date is a decline in market value of investments such as capital contributions in join ventures and Investments in Associates between the balance sheet date and the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue. The fall in market value does not normally relate to the condition of the investments at the balance sheet date, but reflects circumstances that have arisen in the following period. An enterprise does not adjust the amounts recognised in its financial statements for the investments although it may need to give additional disclosure under paragraph 19.


Dividends

10. If dividends to holders of equity instruments are proposed or declared after the balance sheet date, an enterprise should not recognise those dividends as a liability at the balance sheet date.


11. If dividens are declared after the balance sheet date but before the financial statements are authorized for issue the dividends are not recognized as liability on the balance sheet but should be disclosed in the notes in accordance with VAS 21 “Presentations of financial statements”.

12. An enterprise should not prepare its financial statements on a going concern basis if management determines after the balance sheet date either that it intends to liquidate the enterprise or to cease trading, or that it has no realistic alternative but to do so.

13. Deterioration in operating results and financial position after the balance sheet date may indicate a need to consider whether the going concern assumption is still appropriate. If the going concern assumption is no longer appropriate, the effect is so pervasive that this Standard requires a fundamental change in the basis of accounting, rather than an adjustment to the amounts recognised within the original basis of accounting.


14. VAS 21 “Presentation of Financial Statements” specifies required disclosures if:


 (a) the financial statements are not prepared on a going concern basis; or


 (b) management is aware of material uncertainties related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the enterprise's ability to continue as a going concern. The events or conditions requiring disclosure may arise after the balance sheet date.


Disclosure


Date of authorisation for issue

15. An enterprise should disclose the date when the financial statements were authorised for issue and who gave that authorisation. If the enterprise's owners or others have the power to amend the financial statements before issuance, the enterprise should disclose that fact.


16. It is important for users to know when the financial statements were authorised for issue, as the financial statements do not reflect events after this date.


Updating disclosure about conditions at the balance sheet date

17. If an enterprise receives information after the balance sheet date about conditions that existed at the balance sheet date, it should update disclosures that relate to these conditions, in the light of the new information.

18. In some cases, an enterprise needs to update the disclosures in its financial statements to reflect information received after the balance sheet date, even when the information does not affect the amounts that the enterprise recognises in its financial statements. one example of the need to update disclosures is when evidence becomes available after the balance sheet date about a contingent liability that existed at the balance sheet date.


Non-adjusting events after the balance sheet date


19. If  non-adjusting events after the balance sheet date are material, non-disclosure could influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the fiancial statements. Accordingly, an enterprise should disclose the following information for each material category of non-adjusting event after the balance sheet date:


   (a)  the nature and amount of the event; and


   (b) an estimate of its financial effect, or a statement that such an estimate cannot be made.

20. The following are examples of non-adjusting events after the balance sheet date that would generally result in disclosure:


 (a) a major business combination (VAS Business combinations, requires specific disclosures in such cases) or disposing of a major subsidiary;


 (b) announcing a plan to discontinue an operation, disposing of assets or settling liabilities attributable to a discontinuing operation or entering into binding agreements to sell such assets or settle such liabilities;


 (c)
major purchases and disposals of assets;


 (d) the destruction of a major production plant by a fire or flood;


 (e)
announcing a major restructuring;


 (f) 
major ordinary share transactions and potential ordinary share transactions after the balance sheet date;


 (g)
abnormally large changes in asset prices or foreign exchange rates;


 (h) changes in tax rates or tax laws enacted that have a significant effect on current and deferred tax assets and liabilities;


  (i) entering into significant commitments or contingent liabilities; and


  (j) commencing major litigation arising solely out of events.
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VIETNAMESE STANDARDS ON ACCOUNTING

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

STANDARD 27

INTERIM FINANCIAL REPORTING

(Issued in pursuance of the Minister of Finance Decision No. 12/2005/QD-BTC 


dated 15 February 2005)

GENERAL 


1. The objective of this Standard is to prescribe the minimum content of an interim financial report and to prescribe the principles for recognition and measurement in preparing and presenting financial statements for  an interim period. Timely and reliable interim financial reporting improves the abilities of investors, creditors, and other users to understand an enterprise’s capacity to generate earnings, cash flows and its financial condition and liquidity.


2. This Standard applies if an enterprise is required to publish an interrim financial report in accoradance with law and regulations.


The Standard  also applies if an enterprise elects to publish an interim financial report. Enterprises should publish interim financial reports in accordance with law and regulations.


3. The following terms are used in this Standard with the meanings specified :


Interim period: is a financial reporting period shorter than a full financial year.  


Interim financial report: is a financial report containing either a complete set of financial statements as described in VAS 21 “Presentation of financial statements” or a set of condensed financial statements as described in this Standard for an interim period.


CONTENTS

Content of an Interim Financial Report


4. VAS 21 “Presentation of Financial Statement” defines a set of financial statements as including the following components:

(a) a balance sheet;

(b) an income statement;


(c) a cash flows statement; and


(d) notes to the financial statements.


5. This Standard defines the minimum content of an interim financial report as including condensed financial statements and selected explanatory notes. The interim financial report is intended to provide an update on the latest complete set of annual financial statements. Therefore, it focuses on events, new activities and does not duplicate the information previously reported.

6. This Standard encourages the enterprise to publish a complete set of financial statements in its interim financial report. This Standard encourages an enterprise to include in a condensed interim financial statement more than the minimum line items or selected explanatory notes as set out in this Standard. The recognition and measurement principles in this Standard apply also to the complete financial statements for an interim period, and such statements would include all of those disclosures required by this Standard (particularly the selected note disclosure in paragraph 13) as well as those required by other Standards.

Minimum components of an interim financial report:


7. A condensed financial statements for an interim period includes:


(a) condensed balance sheet;


(b) condensed income statement;


(c) condensed cash flows statement; and


(d) selected explanatory notes

Form and content of interim financial statements


8. If an enterprise publishes a complete set of financial statements in its interim financial report, the form and content of those statements should conform to the requirements of VAS 21 “Presentation of financial statements”.


9. If an enterprise publishes a set of condensed financial statements in its interim financial report, those statements should include, at a minimum, each of the heading and subtotals that were included in its most recent annual financial statements and the selected explanatory notes as required by this Standard. Additional line items or notes should be included if their omission would make the condensed interim financial statements misleading. 


10. Basic and diluted earnings per share should be presented on the face of an income statement, complete or condensed, for an interim period.


11. A parent company publishes the consolidated financial statements in accordance with VAS 25 “Consolidated financial statement and accounting for investment to subsidiaries” should prepare the condensed consolidated financial report for in interim period together with its separate interim financial report.


Selected explanatory notes


12. A user of an enterprise’s interim financial report will also have access to the most recent annual financial report of that enterprise. It is unnecessary, therefore, for the notes to an interim financial report to provide relatively insignificant updates to the information that was already reported in the notes to the most recent annual report. At an interim date, an explanation of events and transactions that are significant to the understanding of changes in financial position and performance of the enterprise since the last annual reporting date is more useful.


13. An enterprise should include the following information in the notes to its interim financial statements, if material and if not disclosed elsewhere in the interim financial report. The information should normally be reported on the financial year-to-date basic. However, the enterprise should also disclose any events or transactions that are material to an understanding of the current t interim period:

(a) a statement that the same accounting policies and methods of computation are followed in the interim financial statements as compared with the most recent annual financial statements or,  if those policies and methods have been changed, a description of the nature and effect of the change;


(b) explanatory comments about the seasonality and cyclicality of interim operations;


(c) the nature and amount of items affecting assets, liabilities, equity, net income or cash flows that are unusual because of their nature, size, or incidence;


(d) note disclosure of changes in accumulated owner equity for the period to the date of interim financial report and corresponding notes that are comparable to the same period of the most recent financial year;


(e) nature and amount of changes in accounting estimates of amounts reported in prior interim period of the current financial year or changes in estimates of amounts reported in prior financial years if those changes have a material effect in the current interim period;


(f) issuances, repurchases, and repayments of debt and equity securities;


(g) dividend paid (aggregate or per share) separately for ordinary shares and other shares;


(h) segment revenue and segment results from business segments or geographial segments, whichever is the enterprise’s primary basis of segment reporting;


(i) the material events subsequent to the end of the interim period that have not been reflected in the financial statements for the interim period;


(j) effect of the changes in the composition of the enterprise during the interim period, including business combinations, acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries, long-term investments, restructings, and discontinuing operations; and 


(j)  the changes in the contingent liabilities and contingent assets since the last annual balance sheet date.


14. Other accounting standard specifies disclosure that should be made in financial statements. In that context, financial statements means complete sets of financial statements of the type normally included in an annual financial report and sometimes included in other reports. The disclosures required by those other Standards are not required if an enterprise’s interim financial report includes only condensed financial reports and selected explanatory notes rather than a full set of financial statements.


Disclosure of compliance with Vietnamese Accounting Standards and System. 


15. If an enterprise’s interim financial report is in compliance with this standard, that fact should be disclosed. An interim financial report should not be described as complying the Vietnamese Accounting Standards unless it complies with the Vietnamese accounting standard and the guideline on implementation of Vietnamese accounting standard of Ministry of Finance.

Periods for which interim financial statements are required to be presented 


16. interim financial report should interim financial statements (condensed or complete) for as follow:


(a) balance sheet as of the end of the current interim period and comparative balance sheet as of the end of the immediately preceding financial year;


(b) income statements for the current interim period and cumulatively for the current financial year to date, with comparative income statements for the comparable interim periods of the immediately preceding financial year;


(c) cash flow statement cumulatively for the current financial year to date, with a comparative statement for the comparable year-to-date period of the immediately preceding financial year.

17. For an enterprise whose business is highly seasonal, financial information for the twelve months ending on the interim reporting date and comparative information for the prior twelve-month period may be useful.  


Materiality


18. In deciding how to recognise, measure, classify, or disclose an item for interim financial reporting purposes, materiality should be assessed in relation to the interim period financial data. In making assessments of materiality, it should be recognised that interim measurements may rely on estimates to a greater extent than measurements of annual financial data.


19. VAS 01 “Framework” defines “An intem is material if its omission or misstatement could significantly misstate the financial statements influencing the economic decision of users of the financial statements”. VAS 29 “Changes in accounting policies, accounting estimate and the fundamental errors” requires disclosure changes in accounting estimates, fundamental errors, and changes in accounting policies. VAS 29 does not privide quantitative guidance as to materiality. 


20. While judgement is always required in assessing materiality for financial statements preparation purposes, this Standard bases the recognition and disclosure decision on data for the interim period by itself for reasons of understandability of the interim figures. Thus, for example, unusual or extraordinary items, changes in accounting policies or estimates, and fundamental errors are recognised and disclosed on the basis of materiality in relation to interim period data to avoid misleading inferences that might result from non-disclosure. The overriding goal is to ensure that an interim financial report includes all information that is relevant to understanding an enterprise’s financial position and performance during the interim period.


Disclosure in annual financial statements


21. If an estimate of an amount reported in an interim period is changed significantly during the final interim period of the financial year but a separate financial report is not published for that final interim period, the nature and amount of that change in estimate should be disclosed in a note to the annual financial statements for that financial year.


22. VAS 29 “Changes in accounting policies, estimates and fundamental errors” requires disclosure of the nature and (if practicable) the amount of a change in accounting estimate that either has a material effect in  the current period or is expected to have material effect in subsequent periods. The paragraph 13 d) of this Standard requires similar disclosure in an interim financial report. Examples, include changes in the estimate in the final interim period relating to inventory write down, restructurings that were reported  in an earlier interim period of the financial year. The disclosure required in the preceding paragraph is consistent with VAS 29 “Changes in accounting policies, estimates, and fundamental errors” to narrow in scope-relating only to the changes in estimate. 


Recognition and measurement


Same accounting policies as annual financial statements


23. An enterprise should apply the same accounting policies in its interim financial statements as are applied in its annual financial statements, except for accounting policy changes made after the date of the most recent annual financial statements that are to be reflected in the next annual financial statements. However, the annual and interim reports of enterprise should not affect the measurement of its annual results. To achieve that objective, measurements for interim reporting purposes should be made on a year-to-date basis.

24. Requiring that an enterprise apply the same accounting policies in its interim financial statements as in its annual statements may seem to suggest that interim period measurements are made as if each interim period stands alone as an independent reporting period. However, by providing that the frequency of an enterprise’s reporting should not affect the measurement of its annual results. Year-to-date measurements may involve changes in estimates of amounts reported in prior interim periods of the current financial year. But the principles for recognising assets, liabilities, income, and expenses for interim periods are the same as in annual financial statements.


25. The rules for recognition and measurement for interim reporting are:  


(a) the principles for recognising and measuring losses from inventory write-downs, restructurings, or impairments in an interim period are the same as those that an enterprise would follow if it prepared only annual financial statements. However, if such items are recognised and measured in one interim period and the estimate changes in a subsequent interim period of that financial year, the original estimate is changed in the subsequent interim period either by accrual of an additional amount of loss or by reversal of the previously recognised amount;


(b) a cost that does not meet the definition of an asset at the end of an interim period is not deferred on the balance sheet either to await future information as to whether it has met the definition of an asset or to smooth earnings over interim periods within a financial year; and

(c) income tax expense is recognised in each interim period based on the best estimate of the weighted average annual income tax rate expected for the full financial year. Amounts accrued for income tax expense in one interim period may have to be adjusted in a subsequent interim period of that financial year if the estimate of the annual income tax rate changes.


26. Under VAS 01 “Framework”, the financial statements should reflect factos relating to the enterprise’s financial position and performance, and such factors should be reported item by item. The definitions of assets, liabilities, revenue, and other income and expenses are fundamental to recognition, both at annual and interim financial reporting dates. 


27. For assets, the same tests of future economic benefits apply at interim dates and at the end of an enterprise’s financial year. Costs that, by their nature, would not qualify as assets at financial year end would not qualify at interim dates either. Similarly, a liability at an interim reporting date must represent an existing obligation at that date, just as it must at an annual reporting date.


28. An essential characteristic of income (revenue) and expenses is that the related inflows and outflows of assets and liabilities have already taken place. If those inflows or outflows have taken place, the related revenue and expense are recognised; otherwise they are not recognised. The Framework says that “expenses are recognised in the income statement when a decrease in future economic benefits related to a decrease in an asset or an increase of a liability has arisen that can be measured reliably.... The Framework does not allow the recognition of items in the balance sheet which do not meet the definition of assets or liabilities.”


29. In measuring the assets, liabilities, income, expenses, and cash flows reported in its financial statements, an enterprise that reports only annually is able to take into account information that becomes available throughout the financial year. Its measurements are, in effect, on a yearto-date basis.

30. An enterprise that reports for interim period uses information available at that preiod in making the measurements in its financial statements for the period and information available by year-end or shortly thereafter for the twelve-month period. The twelvemonth measurements will reflect possible changes in estimates of amounts reported for the period. The amounts reported in the interim financial report for the first six-month period are not retrospectively adjusted. Paragraphs 13(d) and 21 require, however, that the nature and amount of any significant changes in estimates be disclosed.


31. An enterprise that reports for the period measures income and expenses on a year-to-date basis for each interim period using information available when each set of financial statements is being prepared. Amounts of revenue, other income and expenses reported in the current interim period will reflect any changes in estimates of amounts reported in prior interim periods of the financial year. The amounts reported in prior interim periods are not retrospectively adjusted. Paragraphs 13(d) and 21 require, however, that the nature and amount of any significant changes in estimates be disclosed.


Revenues received seasonally, cyclically, and occasionally


32. Revenues that are received seasonally, cyclically, or occasionally within a financial year should not be anticipated or deferred as of an interim date if anticipation or deferral would not be appropriate at the end of the enterprise’s financial year. 


33. Examples include dividend, seasional revenue, royalties, and government grants. Additionally, some enterprises consistently earn more revenues in certain interim periods of a financial year than in other interim periods, for example, seasonal revenues of retailers. Such revenues are recognised when they occur. 

Costs incurred unevenly during the financial year


34. Costs that are incurred unevenly during an enterprise’s financial year should be anticipated or deferred for interim reporting purposes if, and only if, it is also appropriate to anticipate or defer that type of cost at the end of the financial year.


Uses of estimates


35.  The measurement procedures to be followed in an interim financial report should be designed to ensure that the resulting information is reliable and that all material financial information that is relevant to enterprise is appropriately disclosed. While measurements in both annual and interim financial reports are often based on reasonable estimates, the preparation of interim financial reports generally will require a greater use of estimation methods than annual financial reports.


Restatement of previously reported interim periods

36. A change in accounting policy, other than one for which the transition is specified by a new Accounting Standard, should be reflected by:


(a) restating the  financial statements of the prior interim periods of the  current financial year and the comparable interim periods of any prior financial years (see paragraph 16) in accordance with VAS 29 “Changes in accounting policies, estimates, and fundamental errors”; or 


(b)  when it is impracticable to determine the effect ofapplying a new accounting policy to prior periods, adjusting the financial statements of prior interim periods of the current financial year, and comparable interim periods of prior financial years to apply the new accounting policy prospectively from the earliest date practicable.


37. One objective of the paragraph 36 is to ensure that a single accounting policy is applied to a particular class of transactions throughout an entire financial year. Under VAS 29 “Changes in accounting policies, estimates, and fundamental errors”, a change in accounting policy is reflected by retrospective application, with restatement of prior period financial data, if practicable. However, if the amount of the adjustment relating to prior financial years is not reasonably determinable, then under VAS 29 “Changes in accounting policies, estimates, and fundamental errors” the new policy is applied prospectively. An allowed alternative is to include the entire cumulative retrospective adjustment in the determination of net profit or loss for the period in which the accounting policy is changed. The effect of the principle in paragraph 36 is to require that within the current financial year any change in accounting policy be applied retrospectively to the beginning of the financial year.


38.
To allow accounting changes to be reflected as of an interim date within the financial year leading to two differing accounting policies to be applied to a particular class of transactions within a single financial year would be interim allocation difficulties, obscured operating results, and complicated analysis and understandability of interim period information.
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VIETNAMESE STANDARDS ON ACCOUNTING


--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

STANDARD 28


SEGMENT REPORTING

(Issued in pursuance of the Minister of Finance Decision No. 12/2005/QD-BTC 


dated 15 February 2005)

GENERAL 


01. The objective of this Standard is to establish principles for reporting financial information by segment information about the different types of products and services an enterprise produces and the different geographical areas in which it operates to help users of financial statements:  


(a)
better understand the enterprise’s past performance;


(b)
better assess the enterprise’s risks and returns; and


(c)
make more informed judgements about the enterprise as a whole.



Many enterprises provide groups of products and services or operate in geographical areas that are subject to differing rates of profitability, opportunities for growth, future prospects, and risks. Information about an enterprise’s different types of products and services and its operations in different geographical areas often called segment information is relevant to assessing the risks and returns of a diversified or multinational enterprise but may not be determinable from the aggregated data.  Therefore, segment information is widely regarded as necessary to meeting the needs of users of financial statements


02.
This Standard should be applied in complete sets of published financial statements that comply with Vietnamese Accounting Standards.


03.
A complete set of financial statements includes a balance sheet, income statement, cash flow statement and notes, as provided in VAS 21 “Presentation of Financial Statements”.


04.
This Standard should be applied by enterprises whose equity or debt securities are publicly traded and by enterprises that are in the process of issuing equity or debt securities in public securities markets.


 05. If an enterprise whose securities are not publicly traded prepares financial statements that comply with Vietnamese Accounting Standards, that enterprise is encouraged to disclose financial information by segment voluntarily.


06.
If an enterprise whose securities are not publicly traded chooses to disclose segment information voluntarily in financial statements, that enterprise should comply fully with the requirements of this Standard.


07.
If a single financial report contains both consolidated financial statements of an enterprise whose securities are publicly traded and the separate financial statements of the parent or one or more subsidiaries, segment information need be presented only on the basis of the consolidated financial statements.  If a subsidiary is itself an enterprise whose securities are publicly traded, it will present segment information in its own separate financial report.


08.
The following terms are used in this Standard:


Operating activities are the principal revenue-producing activities of an enterprise and other activities that are not investing or financing activities.


Accounting policies are the specific principles, bases, conventions, rules and practices adopted by an enterprise in preparing and presenting financial statements.


Revenue is the gross inflow of economic benefits during the period arising in the course of the ordinary activities of an enterprise when those inflows result in increases in equity


Definitions of Business Segment and Geographical Segment


09.
A business segment is a distinguishable component of an enterprise that is engaged in providing an individual product or service or a group of related products or services and that is subject to risks and returns that are different from those of other business segments.  Factors that should be considered in determining whether products and services are related include:


(a)
the nature of the products or services;


(b)
the nature of the production processes;


(c)
the type  or class of customer for the products or services;


(d)
the methods used to distribute the products or provide the services; and


(e) the nature of the regulatory environment, for example, banking, insurance, or public utilities.


A geographical segment is a distinguishable component of an enterprise that is engaged in providing products or services within a particular economic environment and that is subject to risks and returns that are different from those of components operating in other economic environments.  Factors that should be considered in identifying geographical segments include:


(a) 
similarity of economic and political conditions; 


(b) 
relationships between operations in different geographical areas;


(c) 
proximity of operations;


(d) 
special risks associated with operations in a particular area;


(e) 
exchange control regulations; and  


(f) 
the underlying currency risks.


A reportable segment is a business segment or a geographical segment identified based on the above-specified definitions.


10.
A single business segment does not include products and services with significantly differing risks and returns.  While there may be dissimilarities with respect to one or several of the factors in the definition of a business segment, the products and services included in a single business segment are expected to be similar with respect to a majority of the factors.


11. A geographical segment does not include operations in economic environments with significantly differing risks and returns.  A geographical segment may be a single country, a group of two or more countries, or a region within a country.


12. The predominant sources of risks affect how most enterprises are organised and managed.  Therefore, paragraph 25 of this Standard provides that an enterprise’s organisational structure and its internal financial reporting system is the basis for identifying its segments.  The risks and returns of an enterprise are influenced both by the geographical location of its operations (where its products are produced or where its service delivery activities are based) and also by the location of its markets (where its products are sold or services are rendered).  The definition allows geographical segments to be based on either:


(a) the location of an enterprise’s production or service facilities and other assets; or



(b)
the location of its markets and customers


13. An enterprise’s organisational and internal reporting structure will normally provide evidence of whether its dominant source of geographical risks results from the location of its assets (the location of its operations) or the location of its customers (the location of its sales). Enterprise uses organisational and internal reporting structure or the location of its assets or its customers to determine the geographical segments of its business. 


14. Determining the composition of a business or geographical segment involves a certain amount of judgement of the enterprise management.  In making that judgement, enterprise management takes into account the objective of reporting financial information by segment as set forth in this Standard and other Standards.


Definitions of Segment Revenue, Expense, Result, Assets, and Liabilities


15.  The following additional terms are used in this Standard with the meanings specified:


Segment revenue is revenue reported in the enterprise’s income statement that is directly attributable to a segment and the relevant portion of enterprise revenue that can be allocated on a reasonable basis to a segment, whether from sales to external customers or from transactions with other segments of the same enterprise.  Segment revenue does not include:


(a)
Other  incomes;


(b)
interest or dividend income, including interest earned on advances or loans to other segments, unless the segment’s operations are primarily of a financial nature; or


(c)
gains on sales of investments or gains on extinguishment of debt unless the segment’s operations are primarily of a financial nature.


Segment revenue includes an enterprise’s share of profits or losses of associates, joint ventures, or other investments accounted for under the equity method only if those items are included in consolidated enterprise revenue

Segment expense is expense resulting from the operating activities of a segment that is directly attributable to the segment and the relevant portion of anexpense that can be allocated on a reasonable basis to the segment, including expenses relating to sales to external customers and expenses relating to transactions with other segments of the same enterprise.  Segment expense does not include:


(a)
Other items;


(b)
interest, including interest incurred on advances or loans from other segments, unless the segment’s operations are primarily of a financial nature;


(c)
losses on sales of investments or losses on extinguishment of debt unless the segment’s operations are primarily of a financial nature; 


(d)
an enterprise’s share of losses of associates, joint ventures, or other investments accounted for under the equity method;


(e)
income tax expense; or


(f)
general administrative expenses, head-office expenses, and other expenses that arise at the enterprise level and relate to the enterprise as a whole.  However, costs are sometimes incurred at the enterprise level on behalf of a segment.  Such costs are segment expenses if they relate to the segment’s operating activities and they can be directly attributed or allocated to the segment on a reasonable basis.


For a segment’s operations that are primarily of a financial nature, interest income and interest expense may be reported as a single net amount for segment reporting purposes only if those items are netted in the consolidated or enterprise financial statements.


Segment result is segment revenue less segment expense.  Segment result is determined before any adjustments for minority interest. 


Segment assets are those operating assets that are employed by a segment in its operating activities and that either are directly attributable to the segment or can be allocated to the segment on a reasonable basis.  


If a segment’s segment result includes interest or dividend income, its segment assets include the related receivables, loans, investments, or other income-producing assets.


Segment assets do not include deferred tax assets.


Segment assets are determined after deducting related allowances that are reported as direct offsets in the enterprise’s balance sheet.


Segment liabilities are those operating liabilities that result from the operating activities of a segment and that either are directly attributable to the segment or can be allocated to the segment on a reasonable basis.  

If a segment’s segment result includes interest expense, its segment liabilities include the related interest-bearing liabilities.


Segment liabilities do not include deferred tax liabilities.

Segment accounting policies are the accounting policies adopted for preparing and presenting the financial statements of the consolidated group or enterprise as well as those accounting policies that relate specifically to segment reporting.


16.  The definitions of segment revenue, segment expense, segment assets, and segment liabilities include amounts of such items that are directly attributable to a segment and amounts of such items that can be allocated to a segment on a reasonable basis.  An enterprise looks to its internal financial reporting system as the starting point for identifying those items that can be directly attributed, or reasonably allocated, to segments.


17. A revenue, expense, asset, or liability should not be allocated to segments for internal financial reporting purposes on a basis that could be deemed subjective or arbitrary. Such an item should be allocated reasonably pursuant to the definitions of segment revenue, segment expense, segment assets, and segment liabilities in this Standard. 


18. Segment assets include current assets that are used in the operating activities of the segment, tangible fixed assets, assets that are the subject of finance leases, and intangible fixed assets.  If a particular item of depreciation or amortisation is included in segment expense, the related asset is also included in segment assets.  Segment assets do not include assets used for general enterprise or head-office purposes.  Segment assets include operating assets shared by two or more segments if a reasonable basis for allocation exists, including goodwill.


19. Segment liabilities include trade and other payables, accrued liabilities, customer advances. Segment liabilities do not include borrowings, liabilities related to assets that are the subject of finance leases, and other liabilities that are incurred for financing rather than operating purposes. If interest expense is included in segment result, the related interest-bearing liability is included in segment liabilities.  The liabilities of segments whose operations are not primarily of a financial nature do not include borrowings and similar liabilities because segment result represents an operating, rather than a net-of-financing, profit or loss.  Further, because debt is often issued at the head-office level on an enterprise-wide basis, it is often not possible to directly attribute, or reasonably allocate, the interest-bearing liability to the segment. 


20.
Measurements of segment assets and liabilities include adjustments to the prior carrying amounts of the identifiable segment assets and segment liabilities of a company acquired in a business combination accounted for as a purchase, even if those adjustments are made only for the purpose of preparing consolidated financial statements and are not recorded in either the parent’s or the subsidiary’s separate financial statements. 


21.
Some guidance for cost allocation can be found in other Vietnamese Accounting Standards.  VAS 2 “Inventories” provide guidance for attributing and allocating costs to inventories, and VAS 15 “Construction Contracts” provide guidance for attributing and allocating costs to contracts.  That guidance may be useful in attributing or allocating costs to segments.


22.
Segment revenue, segment expense, segment assets, and segment liabilities are determined before intra-group balances and intra-group transactions are eliminated as part of the consolidation process, except to the extent that such intra-group balances and transactions are between group enterprises within a single segment.


23.
While the accounting policies used in preparing and presenting the financial statements of the enterprise as a whole are also the fundamental segment accounting policies, segment accounting policies include, in addition, policies that relate specifically to segment reporting, such as identification of segments, method of pricing inter-segment transfers, and basis for allocating revenues and expenses to segments. 


Identifying reportable segments

Primary and Secondary Segment Reporting Formats


24.
The dominant source and nature of an enterprise’s risks and returns should govern whether its primary segment reporting format will be business segments or geographical segments.  If the enterprise’s risks and rates of return are affected predominantly by differences in the products and services it produces, its primary format for reporting segment information should be business segments, with secondary information reported geographically.  Similarly, if the enterprise’s risks and rates of return are affected predominantly by the fact that it operates in different countries or other geographical areas, its primary format for reporting segment information should be geographical segments, with secondary information reported for groups of related products and services. 


25.
An enterprise’s internal organisational and management structure and its system of internal financial reporting to the management should normally be the basis for identifying the predominant source and nature of risks and differing rates of return facing the enterprise and, therefore, for determining which reporting format is primary and which is secondary, except as provided in subparagraphs (a) and (b) below:


(a)
if an enterprise’s risks and rates of return are strongly affected both by differences in the products and services it produces and by differences in the geographical areas in which it operates, as evidenced by a “matrix approach” to managing the company and to reporting internally to the board of directors and the chief executive officer, then the enterprise should use business segments as its primary segment reporting format and geographical segments as its secondary reporting format; and


(b)
if an enterprise’s internal organisational and management structure and its system of internal financial reporting to the the management are based neither on individual products or services or on groups of related products/services nor on geography, the management of the enterprise should determine whether the enterprise’s risks and returns are related more to the products and services it produces or more to the geographical areas in which it operates and, as a consequence, should choose either business segments or geographical segments as the enterprise’s primary segment reporting format.


26.
For most enterprises, the predominant source of risks and returns determines how the enterprise is organised and managed.An enterprise’s organisational and management structure and its internal financial reporting system normally provide the best evidence of the enterprise’s predominant source of risks and returns for purpose of its segment reporting.  Therefore, except in rare circumstances, an enterprise will report segment information in its financial statements on the same basis as it reports internally to top management. Its predominant source of risks and returns becomes its primary segment reporting format.   Its secondary source of risks and returns becomes its secondary segment reporting format.


27.
A “matrix presentation” - both business segments and geographical segments as primary segment reporting formats with full segment disclosures on each basis - often will provide useful information if an enterprise’s risks and rates of return are strongly affected both by differences in the products and services it produces and by differences in the geographical areas in which it operates.  This Standard does not require, but does not prohibit, a “matrix presentation”. 


28. In some cases, an enterprise’s organisation and internal reporting may have developed along lines unrelated either to differences in the types of products and services they produce or to the geographical areas in which they operate.  For instance, internal reporting may be organised solely by legal entity, resulting in internal segments composed of groups of unrelated products and services.  In those unusual cases, the internally reported segment data will not meet the objective of this Standard.  Accordingly, paragraph 25(b) requires the directors and management of the enterprise to determine whether the enterprise’s risks and returns are more product/service driven or geographically driven and to choose either business segments or geographical segments as the enterprise’s primary basis of segment reporting.  The objective is to achieve a reasonable degree of comparability with other enterprises, enhance understandability of the resulting information, and meet the expressed needs of investors, creditors, and others for information about product/service-related and geographically-related risks and returns. 


Business and Geographical Segments


29.
An enterprise’s business and geographical segments for external reporting purposes should be those organisational units for which information is reported to the management for the purpose of evaluating the unit’s past performance and for making decisions about future allocations of resources, except as provided in paragraph 30. 


30.
If an enterprise’s internal organisational and management structure and its system of internal financial reporting to the management are based neither on individual products or services or on groups of related products/services nor on geography, paragraph 25(b) requires that the directors and management of the enterprise should choose either business segments or geographical segments as the enterprise’s primary segment reporting format. In that case, the directors and management of the enterprise must determine its business segments and geographical segments for external reporting purposes based on the factors in the definitions in paragraph 9 of this Standard, rather than on the basis of its system of internal financial reporting to the board of directors and chief executive officer, consistent with the following: 


a)
if one or more of the segments reported is a business segment or a geographical segment based on the factors in the definitions in paragraph 9, the internally reported segment that meets the definition should not be further segmented for reporting purposes;


b)
for those segments that do not satisfy the definitions in paragraph 9, management of the enterprise should look to the next lower level of internal segmentation that reports information along product and service lines or geographical lines as appropriate under the definitions in paragraph 9; and 


c)
if such an internally reported lower-level segment meets the definition of business segment or geographical segment based on the factors in paragraph 9, the criteria in paragraphs 32 and 33 for identifying reportable segments should be applied to that segment.


31.
Under this Standard, most enterprises will identify their business and geographical segments as the organisational units for which information is reported to the management for the purpose of evaluating each unit’s past performance and for making decisions about future allocations of resources. If an enterprise reports its internal segments not along product/service or geographical lines, it will look to the next lower level of internal segmentation that reports information along product and service lines or geographical lines. 


Reportable Segments 


32.
Two or more internally reported business segments or geographical segments that are substantially similar may be combined as a single business segment or geographical segment.  Two or more business segments or geographical segments are substantially similar only if:


(a)
they exhibit similar financial performance; and


(b)
they are similar in all of the factors in the appropriate definition in paragraph 9.

33. A business segment or geographical segment should be identified as a reportable segment if a majority of its revenue is earned from sales to external customers and meets one of following criteria:


(a)
its revenue from sales to external customers and from transactions with other segments is 10 per cent or more of the total revenue, external and internal, of all segments; or


(b)
its segment result, whether profit or loss, is 10 per cent or more of the combined result of all segments in profit or the combined result of all segments in loss, whichever is the greater in absolute amount; or 


(c)
its assets are 10 per cent or more of the total assets of all segments.


34. If an internally reported segment is below all of the thresholds of significance in paragraph 33:


(a)
that segment may be designated as a reportable segment despite its size if the segment information considered useful for the financial statement users;


(b)
if that segment can be combined into a separately reportable segment with one or more other similar internally reported segment(s) and


(c) the remaining segment(s) can be reported  as a seprate item.


35.
If total external revenue attributable to reportable segments constitutes less than 75 per cent of the total consolidated or enterprise revenue, additional segments should be identified as reportable segments, even if they do not meet the 10 per cent thresholds in paragraph 33, until at least 75 per cent of total consolidated or enterprise revenue is included in reportable segments.


36.
The 10 per cent thresholds in this Standard are not intended to be a guide for determining materiality for any aspect of financial reporting other than identifying reportable business and geographical segments.


37.
By limiting reportable segments to those that earn a majority of their revenue from sales to external customers, this Standard does not require that the different stages of vertically integrated operations be identified as separate business segments.  However, in some industries, current practice is to report certain vertically integrated activities as separate business segments even if they do not generate significant external sales revenue.  For instance, Vietnam Oil and Gas Corporation reports its upstream activities (exploration and production) and its downstream activities (refining and marketing) as separate business segments even if most or all of the upstream product (crude petroleum) is transferred internally to the enterprise’s refining operation.


38.
This Standard encourages, but does not require, the voluntary reporting of vertically integrated activities as separate segments. 


39.
If an enterprise’s internal reporting system treats vertically integrated operation activities as separate segments and the enterprise does not choose to report them externally as business segments, the selling segment should be combined into the buying segment(s) in identifying externally reportable business segments unless there is no reasonable basis for doing so.

40.
A segment identified as a reportable segment in the immediately preceding period because it satisfied the relevant 10 per cent thresholds should continue to be a reportable segment for the current period notwithstanding that its revenue, result, and assets all no longer exceed the 10 per cent thresholds, if the management of the enterprise judges the segment to be of continuing significance. 


41.
If a segment is identified as a reportable segment in the current period because it satisfies the relevant 10 per cent thresholds, prior period segment data that is presented for comparative purposes should be restated to reflect the newly reportable segment as a separate segment, even if that segment did not satisfy the 10 per cent thresholds in the prior period, unless it is impracticable to do so. 

Segment Accounting Policies 


42. Segment information should be prepared in conformity with the accounting policies adopted for preparing and presenting the financial statements of the consolidated group or enterprise. 

43. The accounting policies that the directors and management of an enterprise have chosen to use, in preparing its consolidated or enterprise-wide financial statements, are those that the directors and management believe are the most appropriate for external reporting purposes.  Since the purpose of segment information is to help users of financial statements better understand and make more informed judgements about the enterprise as a whole, this Standard requires the use, in preparing segment information, of the accounting policies that the directors and management have chosen. 

44. This Standard allows the disclosure of additional segment information that is prepared on a basis other than the accounting policies adopted for the consolidated or enterprise financial statements provided that


 (a) the information is reported internally to the management for purposes of making decisions about allocating resources to the segment and assessing its performance and


 (b) the basis of measurement for this additional information is clearly described. 


45. Assets that are jointly used by two or more segments should be allocated to segments if, and only if, their related revenues and expenses also are allocated to those segments. 


46.  The way in which asset, liability, revenue, and expense items are allocated to segments depends on such factors as the nature of those items, the activities conducted by the segment, and the relative autonomy of that segment.  It is not possible or appropriate to specify a single basis of allocation that should be adopted by all enterprises.  Allocation of enterprise asset, liability, revenue, and expense items that relate jointly to two or more segments should also be on a reasonable basis.  At the same time, the definitions of segment revenue, segment expense, segment assets, and segment liabilities are interrelated, and the resulting allocations should be consistent.  Therefore, jointly used assets are allocated to segments if, and only if, their related revenues and expenses also are allocated to those segments.  For example, an asset is included in segment assets if, and only if, the related depreciation or amortisation is deducted in measuring segment result. 


Disclosure


47.  In this Standard, Paragraphs 48-61 specify the disclosures required for reportable segments for an enterprise’s primary segment reporting format.  Paragraphs 62-66 identify the disclosures required for an enterprise’s secondary reporting format.  Enterprises are encouraged to present all of the primary-segment disclosures identified in paragraphs 48-61 for each reportable secondary segment.  Paragraphs 67-76 address several other segment disclosure matters. 


Primary Reporting Format 


48. The disclosure requirements in paragraphs 49-61 should be applied to each reportable segment based on an enterprise’s primary reporting format.  


49. An enterprise should disclose segment revenue for each reportable segment.  Segment revenue from sales to external customers and segment revenue from transactions with other segments should be separately reported. 


50. An enterprise should disclose segment result for each reportable segment.


51. If an enterprise can compute segment net profit or loss or some other measure of segment profitability other than segment result without arbitrary allocations, reporting of such amount(s) is encouraged in addition to segment result, appropriately described.  If that measure is prepared on a basis other than the accounting policies adopted for the consolidated or enterprise financial statements, the enterprise will include in its financial statements a clear description of the basis of measurement.


52. The Standard encourgages enterprises provide additional business indicators in order to assess segment performance including: profit or loss from ordinary activities (either before or after income taxes) and net profit or loss.


53. An enterprise should disclose the total carrying amount of segment assets for each reportable segment. 


54. An enterprise should disclose segment liabilities for each reportable segment. 


55. An enterprise should disclose the total cost incurred during the period to acquire segment assets that are expected to be used during more than one period (property, plant, equipment, and intangible assets) for each reportable segment. 


56. An enterprise should disclose the total amount of expense included in segment result for depreciation and amortisation of segment assets for the period for each reportable segment.


57. An enterprise is encouraged, but not required to disclose the nature and amount of any items of segment revenue and segment expense that are of such size, nature, or incidence that their disclosure is relevant to explain the performance of each reportable segment for the period. 


58.  Items of income or expense within profit or loss from ordinary activities are of such size, nature, or incidence that their disclosure is relevant to explain the performance of the enterprise for the period, the nature and amount of such items should be disclosed separately.  Paragraph 57 is not intended to change the classification of any such items of revenue or expense from ordinary to extraordinary or to change the measurement of such items.   


59. An enterprise should disclose, for each reportable segment, the total amount of significant non-cash expenses, other than depreciation and amortisation for which separate disclosure is required by paragraph 56.


60. An enterprise that provides the segment cash flow disclosures as required by VAS 24 "Cash Flow Statements" need not also disclose depreciation and amortisation expense pursuant to paragraph 56 or non-cash expenses pursuant to paragraph 59.


61. An enterprise should present a reconciliation between the information disclosed for reportable segments and the aggregated information in the consolidated or enterprise financial statements. The reconciliation contains a seprate column for information not belonging to the reported segments. In presenting the reconciliation, segment revenue should be reconciled to enterprise revenue from external customers (including disclosure of the amount of enterprise revenue from external customers not included in any segment’s revenue); segment result should be reconciled to a comparable measure of enterprise operating profit or loss as well as to enterprise net profit or loss; segment assets should be reconciled to enterprise assets; and segment liabilities should be reconciled to enterprise liabilities.


Secondary Segment Information 


62. Paragraphs 63-66 identify the disclosure requirements to be applied to each reportable segment based on an enterprise’s secondary reporting format, as follows:


(a)
if an enterprise’s primary format is business segments, the required secondary-format disclosures are identified in paragraph 63;


 (b)
if an enterprise’s primary format is geographical segments based on location of assets (where the enterprise’s products are produced or where its service delivery operations are based), the required secondary-format disclosures are identified in paragraphs 64 and 65;


(c) if an enterprise’s primary format is geographical segments based on the location of its customers (where its products are sold or services are rendered), the required secondary-format disclosures are identified in paragraphs 64 and 66.


63. If an enterprise’s primary format for reporting segment information is business segments, it should also report the following information:


(a)
segment revenue from external customers by geographical area based on the geographical location of its customers, for each geographical segment whose revenue from sales to external customers is 10 per cent or more of total enterprise revenue from sales to all external customers;


(b)
the total carrying amount of segment assets by geographical location of assets, for each geographical segment whose segment assets are 10 per cent or more of the total assets of all geographical segments; and


(c)
the total cost incurred during the period to acquire segment assets that are expected to be used during more than one period (tangible fixed assets, intangible fixed assets and other non-current assets) by geographical location of assets, for each geographical segment whose segment assets are 10 per cent or more of the total assets of all geographical segments.


64.  If an enterprise’s primary format for reporting segment information is geographical segments (whether based on location of assets or location of customers), it should also report the following segment information for each business segment whose revenue from sales to external customers is 10 per cent or more of total enterprise revenue from sales to all external customers or whose segment assets are 10 per cent or more of the total assets of all business segments:


(a)
segment revenue from external customers;


(b)
the total carrying amount of segment assets; and


(c)
the total cost incurred during the period to acquire segment assets that are expected to be used during more than one period (tangible fixed assets, intangible fixed assets and other non-current assets).


65. If an enterprise’s primary format for reporting segment information is geographical segments that are based on location of assets, and if the location of its customers is different from the location of its assets, then the enterprise should also report revenue from sales to external customers for each customer-based geographical segment whose revenue from sales to external customers is 10 per cent or more of total enterprise revenue from sales to all external customers.


66. If an enterprise’s primary format for reporting segment information is geographical segments that are based on location of customers, and if the enterprise’s assets are located in different geographical areas from its customers, then the enterprise should also report the following segment information for each asset-based geographical segment whose revenue from sales to external customers or segment assets are 10 per cent or more of related consolidated or total enterprise amounts:


(a)
the total carrying amount of segment assets by geographical location of the assets; and


(b)
the total cost incurred during the period to acquire segment assets that are expected to be used during more than one period (tangible fixed assets, intangible fixed assets and other non-current assets) by location of the assets. 


Other Disclosure Matters 


67. If a business segment or geographical segment for which information is reported to the board of directors and chief executive officer is not a reportable segment because it earns a majority of its revenue from sales to other segments, but nonetheless its revenue from sales to external customers is 10 per cent or more of total enterprise revenue from sales to all external customers, the enterprise should disclose that fact and the amounts of revenue from sales to external customers and  internal sales to other segments.


68. In measuring and reporting segment revenue from transactions with other segments, inter-segment transfers should be measured on the basis that the enterprise actually used to price those transfers.  The basis of pricing inter-segment transfers and any change therein should be disclosed in the financial statements.


69. Changes in accounting policies adopted for segment reporting that have a material effect on segment information should be disclosed, and prior period segment information presented for comparative purposes should be restated unless it is impracticable to do so.  Such disclosure should include a description of the nature of the change, the reasons for the change, the fact that comparative information has been restated or that it is impracticable to do so, and the financial effect of the change, if it is reasonably determinable.  If an enterprise changes the identification of its segments and it does not restate prior period segment information on the new basis because it is impracticable to do so, then for the purpose of comparison the enterprise should report segment data for both the old and the new bases of segmentation in the year in which it changes the identification of its segments.


70. Changes in accounting policy should be made only if required by statute, or by an accounting standard-setting body, or if the change will result in a more appropriate presentation of events or transactions in the financial statements of the enterprise.


71.  Changes in accounting policies adopted at the enterprise level that affect segment information should be applied retrospectively and that prior period information be restated unless it is impracticable to do so. If this treatment is followed, prior period segment information will be restated.  


72.  Some changes in accounting policies relate specifically to segment reporting.  Examples include changes in identification of segments and changes in the basis for allocating revenues and expenses to segments.  Such changes can have a significant impact on the segment information reported but will not change aggregate financial information reported for the enterprise.  To enable users to understand the changes and to assess trends, prior period segment information that is included in the financial statements for comparative purposes is restated, if practicable, to reflect the new accounting policy.


73.  Paragraph 68 requires that, for segment reporting purposes, inter-segment transfers should be measured on the basis that the enterprise actually used to price those transfers.  If an enterprise changes the method that it actually uses to price inter-segment transfers, that is not a change in accounting policy for which prior period segment data should be restated pursuant to paragraph 69.  However, paragraph 68 requires disclosure of the change.


74. An enterprise should indicate the types of products and services included in each reported business segment and indicate the composition of each reported geographical segment, both primary and secondary, if not otherwise disclosed in the financial statements or elsewhere in the financial report.


75.  To assess the impact of such matters as shifts in demand, changes in the price of inputs or other factors of production, and the development of alternative products and processes on a business segment, it is necessary to know the activities encompassed by that segment.  Similarly, to assess the impact of changes in the economic and political environment on the risks and rates of returns of a geographical segment, it is important to know the composition of that geographical segment.


76.  Previously reported segments that no longer satisfy the quantitative thresholds are not reported separately.  They may no longer satisfy those thresholds, for example, because of a decline in demand or a change in management strategy or because a part of the operations of the segment has been sold or combined with other segments.  An explanation of the reasons why a previously reported segment is no longer reported may also be useful in confirming expectations regarding declining markets and changes in enterprise strategies./.
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VIETNAMESE STANDARDS ON ACCOUNTING


--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------


STANDARD 29


changes in accounting policies, accounting estimates and errors


(Issued in pursuance of the Minister of Finance Decision No. 12/2005/QD-BTC 


dated 15 February 2005)

GENERAL 


01. The objective of this Standard is to prescribe the guidance on accounting principles, accounting treatments and presentation of changes in accounting policies, changes in accounting estimates and correction of errors so that enterprise can prepare and present its financial statements on a consistent basis.  This standard also enhances relevancy, reliability of the enterprise’s financial statements as well as enhances comparability of enterprise's financial statements from period to other periods and with the financial statements of other enterprises. 


02. This Standard should be applied in accounting for changes in accounting policies, changes in accounting estimates and correction of errors of the previous  periods.


03. Except for changes in accounting policies, disclosures and application of accounting policies are complied with the  requirements of Vietnamese Accounting Standard 21 “Presentation of Financial Statements”. The tax effects of correction of errors and of retrospective adjustments made to apply changes in accounting policies are accounted for and disclosed in accordance with VAS 17 “Income Taxes”.

04. The following terms are used in this Standard with the meanings specified: 


      Accounting policies are the specific principles, bases, conventions, rules and practices adopted by an enterprise in preparing and presenting financial statements.


A Change in Accounting Estimates is an adjustment of the carrying amounts of an asset or a liability, or the amount of the periodic consumption of an asset that results from the assessment of the current status and of expected future benefits as well as the obligations relating to that asset and liability. Changes in accounting estimates result from new information are not corrections of errors.


Materiality: Omissions or misstatements of items are material if they could make significant misstatements to financial statements and individually or collectively influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements. Materiality depends on the size and nature of the omissions and misstatements judged in the particular circumstances. The size or nature of the item could be the determining factor of materiality.


Prior period errors are omissions from and misstatements in the financial statements of an enterprise for one or more prior periods arising from a failure to use or misuse of reliable information that: 


(a) was available when financial statements for those periods were authorized for issue; and

(b) collectible and usable in preparing and presenting those financial statements.


Such errors include the effect of mathematical mistakes, mistakes in applying accounting policies, misinterpretation of facts, fraud or oversights.


Retrospective application is applying a new accounting policy standard to transactions or other events as if it had always been applied. 


Retrospective restatement is correcting the recognition, measurement and presentation of amounts of elements of the financial statements as if a prior period error had never occurred. 


Impracticability: A requirement is impracticable when an enterprise can not apply it after making every reasonable effort to do so. It is impracticable to apply a change in accounting policy retrospectively or to make a retrospective restatement to correct an error if:

(a) The effects of the retrospective application and retrospective restatement are not  determinable;


(b) The retrospective application or retrospective restatement requires assumptions about what management’s intent would have been in that period;


(c) The retrospective application or retrospective restatement requires significant estimates and it is impossible to distinguish objectively information about those estimates that:


 (i) Provides evidence of circumstances that existed on the date as at which those amounts are to be recognized, measured and disclosed; and


 (ii) Would have been available when the financial statements for that prior period were authorized for issue. 


Prospective application of the change in accounting policy and of recognizing the effects of a change in an accounting estimate, respectively, are: 


(a) Applying the new accounting policy to transactions and events incurring after the date as at which the policy is changed; and;


(b) Recognizing the effects of the change in the accounting estimates in the current and future periods affected by the change. 


CONTENTS 

Changes in Accounting Policies


Consistency of Accounting Policies


05. The accounting policies and practices selected by an enterprise should be applied consistently for all the similar transactions and events unless being required or permitted by another standard for classifying that similar transactions/events into groups with different accounting treatments for different groups.  In this case, an appropriate accounting policy will be selected and applied consistently for each group. 

Changes in Accounting Policies


06. A change in accounting policy should be made by the enterprise only if:


(a) There is requirement of changes by statute, or by an accounting standard;  

(b) If the change will result in the financial statements providing reliable and more relevant information about the effects of events or transactions on the financial positions, financial performance and the cash flows of the enterprise. 

07. Users of financial statements need to be able to compare the financial statements of an enterprise over time to identify trends in its financial position, financial performance and cash flows.  Therefore, the same accounting policies are consistently adopted within each period and from one period to the next unless the changes in accounting policies made under conditions specified in paragraph 06. 


08. The following are not changes in accounting policies:


(a)
the application of an accounting policy for events or transactions that differ in substance from previously occurring events or transactions; and


(b)
the application of  new accounting polies for events or transactions which did not occur previously or that were immaterial.

09. The adoption of a policy to carry assets at revalued amounts under the VAS 03 “Tangible Fixed Assets”, VAS 04 “Intangible Fixed Assets” is a change in accounting policy but it is dealt with as a revaluation in accordance with VAS 03 or VAS 04 rather than in accordance with this Standard.  


Applying changes in Accounting Policies

10. Applying changes in accounting policies is dealt with as follows:


(a) An enterprise shall  account for a change in accounting policy resulting from the initial application of alegal regulation or a  standard in accordance with the specific transitional provisions, if any, in that regulation or standard.  


(b) When an enterprise changes an accounting policy upon initial application of a legal regulation or standard that does not include specific transitional provisions applying to that change; or change an accounting policy voluntarily, it shall apply the change  retrospectively. 

Retrospective Application


11. When a change in accounting policies is applied retrospectively in accordance with paragraph 10(a) and 10(b), the enterprise shall adjust the opening balance of each affected component of equity for the earliest prior period presented and the other  comparative information disclosed for each prior period presented as if the new accounting policy had always been applied.


Limitations on retrospective application


12. Following the retrospective application specified in paragraph 10(a) and 10(b), a change in accounting policy should be applied retrospectively unless it is impacticable to determine either the period-specific effects or the cumulative effects of the change.

13. At the beginning of current period, If it is impracticable to determine the cumulative effects of applying a new accounting policy to the prior periods, the enterprise should adjust the comparative information to apply the new accounting policy prospectively from the earliest period practicable.  


14. When it is impossible to apply a new accounting policy retrospectively because cumulative effects of applying that accounting policy is not determined to all prior periods, the enterprise, in accordance with paragraph 13, should apply that new accounting policy retrospectively from the start of the earliest period practicable. The change in accounting policies is permitted even if it is impracticable to apply the policy retrospectively for any prior period. Paragraphs 30 to 33 provide further guidances for the circumstances when it is impracticable to apply a new accounting policy to one or more prior periods. 


Changes in Accounting Estimates


15. Many items in financial statement can not be measured with precision but can only be estimated. Estimation involves judgements based on the latest information available, reliable information.  Estimates may be required, for example:


(a) bad debts;


(b) inventory obsolescence;


(c) The useful lives of, or expected pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in, depreciable assets; and

(d) Warranty obligation. 

16. The use of reasonable estimates is an essential part of the preparation of financial statements and does not undermine their reliability.

17. An estimate may have to be revised if changes occur regarding the circumstances on which the estimate was based or as a result of new information or more experience or subsequent developments.  By its nature, the revision of an estimate neither relates to prior period nor correction of an error. 


18. A Change in the measurement basis of information is a change in an accounting policies rather than a change in an accounting estimates. If it is difficult to distinguish between a change in an accounting policy and a change in an accounting estimate, the change is treated as a change in an accounting estimate. 


19. The effects of a change in an accounting estimate, except for those specified in paragraph 20, should be applied prospectively and included in the income statement in:


(a)
the period of the change, if the change affects that period only; or


(b)
the period of the change and future periods, if the change affects both.


20. If a change in an accounting estimates gives rise to changes in assets, liabilities or an item in equity, it should be recognised by adjusting the carrying amount of the related assets, liabilities or equity item.  

21. Prospective adjustment of the effect of a change in an accounting estimate means that the change is applied to transactions, other events from the date of the change in estimate. A change in an accounting estimate may affect only income statement of the current period or income statement of both the current period and future periods.  

      For example, a change in the estimate of the amount of bad debts affects only  the current period’s profit or loss and therefore is recognized in the current period.  However, a change in the estimated useful life of, or the expected pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in, a depreciable asset affects the depreciation expense for the current period and for each future period during the remaining useful life of the asset.  In both cases, the effect of the change relating to the current period is recognized as income or expense in the current period. The effect, if any, on future periods is recognized as income or expense in those future periods. 


Errors

22. Errors may occur as a result of recognitions measurement, presentation and disclosures of items reported in the financial statements. Financial statements are considered misstated and incompliant with the accounting standards and accounting policy if they contain material errors or immaterial errors made intentionally to achieve a particular presentation of financial position, financial performance or cash flow of an enterprise. Current period errors discovered in that periods should be corrected before the financial statements are authorized for issue. If material errors are discovered in a subsequent periods, these prior period errors should be corrected in the comparative information presented in the financial statements for that subsequent period (see paragraph 23-28).


23. An enterprise should correct material prior period errors retrospectively in the financial statements authorised for issue after their discovery by:

(a) Restating the comparative amounts for the prior periods presented in which the errors occurred; or 


(b) Adjusting the opening balances of assets, liabilities and items of equity for the earliest prior period presented if the errors occurred before that period. 


Limitations on Retrospective restatement

24. A prior period errors should be corrected  by retrospective adjustments unless it is impracticable to determine either the period-specific effects or the cumulative effects of the errors. 


25. When it is impracticable to determine the period-specific effects of an errors, the enterprise should restatet the opening balances of assets, liabilities and equity of the earliest  period (can be the current period) for which retrospective restatement is practicable . 


26. When it is impracticable to determine the cumulative effects, at the beginning of the current period, of an errors on all prior periods, the enterprise needs to restate the comparative information to correct the errors retrospectively from the earliest period practicable.


27. The Correction of a prior period errors should not be included in the income statement of the period when the errors are discovered. Comparative information should be restated if it is practical to do so. 

28. When it is impracticable to determine the error effects (e.g. an error in applying  an accounting policy) for all prior periods, the enterprise should restate the comparative information retrospectively in the financial statements of the earliest period practicable in accordance with paragraph 26. Correction of an error should be made together with the cumulative restatement of assets, liabilities and equity of the prior period. Paragraphs 30 to 33 provide further guidance for the circumstances when it is impossible to correct an error for one or more prior periods.

29. The correction of errors can be distinguished from changes in accounting estimates.  Accounting estimates by their nature are approximations that may need revision as additional information becomes known.  For example, the gain or loss arising from a specific conclusion in respect of a non-identified liability is not the correction of an error.


Impracticability in respect of retrospective application and restatement 


30. In some cases, it is impossible to restate the comparative information for one or more than one prior periods for comparison purposes. For example, it is impossible to collect information of prior periods for retrospective or prospective application of a new accounting policy (including for the purpose of paragraph 32 to 33); or to make a retrospective adjustments to correct prior period errors or it is impossible to establish these information. 


31. In many cases, accounting estimate is required in applying a new accounting policies in presentation and disclosures of economic transactions and events in the financial statements. The estimate made after balance sheet date is subjective in nature. The estimation becomes more difficult in retrospective applying an accounting policy or making a retrospective restatement to correct a prior period error because of the longer period of time that might have passed since the affected transaction, other events occurred. However, the objective of estimates related to prior periods remains the same as for estimate made in the current periods to reflect the circumstances when transactions and other events occurred.


32. When retrospectively applying a new accounting policy or retrospectively restating an error, the following information should be distinguished from others: 


(a) Information providing evidences of circumstances on the date as at which the transactions or events occurred. 


(b) Information available when the prior periods’ financial statements were authorized for issue. 


For certain types of the accounting estimates, for example fair value estimate, it is impossible to distinguish these information without reference to the market prices or the observable information. It is impossible to apply a new accounting policy retrospectively or correct an error retrospectively involving if material accounting estimates were made without distinguishing these two sources of information.


33. Hindsight should not be used when:


(a) 
applying a new accounting policy or correcting an error of  prior periods;


(b) establishing the assumption on the management’s intentions in the prior periods;


(c) 
estimating the value measured, disclosed and reported in the prior period. 


Example 1: When an enterprise corrects a prior period error in recognizing the value of a financial asset which is classified as held-to-maturity investment under the accounting standard “Financial instruments: Recognition and Measurement”, it cannot change the measurement basis for the reporting period even when the management has subsequently decided not to hold the asset until its maturity date. 


Example 2: An enterprise corrects a prior period error in calculating the obligations relating to the accumulated sick leaves, it should exclude the flu-virus epidemic happened after financial statements were authorized for issue.  When restating the comparative information of prior periods, the significant estimate is required. However, this does not prevent adjusting or correcting the comparative information. 


Disclosure

 Disclosure of changes in accounting policy

34. When initial application of a new accounting policy has an effect on the current period or any prior period or any future period, an enterprise should disclose the following: 

(a)
The title of the accounting policy;

(b) 
Interpretation of change in accounting policies;

(c) 
Nature of change in accounting policies;

(d) 
The description of the interpretation of change (if any);

(e) 
The effects of the change in accounting policies on the future periods (if any);

(f) 
The amounts adjusted to the current period and each prior period such as:


-  
Each financial statement items affected; 



- 
Basis and diluted earnings per Share if the enterprise applies accounting standard “Earnings per Share”;


(g) 
The amounts of the adjustment relating to the prior periods presented in the financial statements; 


(h) 
The reasons and description of the accounting policy application of how and from when should be presented if the retrospective application is impracticable in accordance with the paragraphs 10(a) or 10(b) for a particular prior period or the earliest possible period.


    The information is not required for disclosure in the financial statements of the subsequent periods. 


35. When the enterprise changes its accounting policies voluntarily that affect on the current period or a particular prior period or future periods, the following information needs to be disclosed:


(a) The nature of the change in accounting policies;


(b) The reason for the applying a new accounting policy provides more reliable and appropriate information;


(c) The amounts adjusted to the current period and each prior period such as:


-  Each financial statement items affected; 



- Basis and diluted earnings per Share if the enterprise applies accounting standard “Earnings per Share”;


(d) The amount of adjustment relating to the earliest possible period (if possible); 


(e) The reasons and description of the accounting policy application of how and from when should be presented if the retrospective application is impracticable in accordance with the paragraphs 10(a) or 10(b) for a particular prior period or the earliest possible period.


The information is not required for disclosure in the financial statements of the subsequent periods. 


 Disclosure of Change in Accounting Estimates 

36. The enterprise is required to disclose the nature and value of any change in accounting estimates that affects to the current period or is effects expected  to the future periods unless it is impracticable to determine. In such case, the reason is disclosed. 

Disclosure of prior period errors 

37. In accordance with  paragraph 23, the enterprise is required to disclose the following:

(a) the nature of the prior period errors;

(b) The amounts adjusted in the financial statements to  each prior period such as:


-  Each financial statement items affected; 



- Basis and diluted earnings per Share if the enterprise applies accounting standard “Earnings per Share”;


(c) the adjusted amount to the opening balances of the comparative period presented in the financial statements;


(d) If the retrospective restatement on a particular prior period is impracticable, the reason and description of how and when the correction of error should be disclosed. 


The information is not required for disclosure in the financial statements of the subsequent periods.
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VIETNAMESE STANDARDS ON ACCOUNTING

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

STANDARD 22

DISCLOSURES IN FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF BANKS AND SIMILAR FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS 

(Issued in pursuance of the Minister of Finance Decision No. 12/2005/QD-BTC 


dated 15 February 2005)

GENERAL 


01. The objective of this Standard is to prescribe and guide the presentation of additioanl information in the financial statements of banks and similar financial institutions.   


02. This Standard should be applied for banks and similar financial institutions (hereinafter referred to as banks), including banks, credit institutions, non-banking credit institutions, similar financial institutions whose principal operations are to take deposits and borrow with the objective of lending and investing within the scope of banking operations as stipulated by the Law on Credit Institutions and other related legislations.   


03. This Standard provides guidance in the presentation of nessecary information in separate financial statements and consolidated financial statements of banks. In addition, banks are encouraged to disclose information on their liquidity and risk management capability. This Standard should be also applied on consolidated basis for groups undertaking banking operations.  


04.
This Standard supplements other standards applicable for banks unless they are specifically exempted in a standard.  


CONTENT

Accounting policies

05.
In order to comply with VAS 21, “Presentation of Financial Statements”, and thereby enable users to understand the basis on which the financial statements of a bank are prepared, accounting policies dealing with the following items need to be disclosed:


a) the recognition of the principal types of income (see paragraphs 07 and 08);


b) the valuation of investment and dealing securities;


c) the distinction between those transactions and other events that result in the recognition of assets and liabilities on the balance sheet and those transactions and other events that only give rise to contingencies and commitments (see paragraphs 20 to 22);


d) the basis for the determination of losses on loans and advances and for writing off uncollectible loans and advances (see paragraphs 36 to 40); 


e) the basis for the determination of charges for general banking risks and the accounting treatment of such charges (see paragraphs 41 to 43).


Income Statement


06.
 A bank should present an income statement which groups income and expenses by nature and discloses the amounts of the principal types of income and expenses

07.
In addition to the requirements of other Vietnamese Accounting Standards, the disclosures in the income statement or the notes to the financial statements should include, but are not limited to, the following items of income and expenses:

· Interest and similar income;


· Interest expense and similar charges;


· Dividend;


· Fee and commision income;


· Fee and commision expense;


· Net gains or losses arising from dealing securities;


· Gains less losses arising from investment securities;


· Gains less losses arising from dealing in foreign currencies;


· Other operating income;


· Losses on loans and advances


· General administrative expenses; and


· Other operating expenses.


08.
The principal types of income arising from the operations of a bank include interest, fees for services, commissions and other business operating results.  Each type of income is separately disclosed in order that users can assess the performance of a bank.  Such disclosures are in addition to those of the source of income required by VAS 28, Segment Reporting. 


09.
The principal types of expenses arising from the operations of a bank include interest, commissions, losses on loans and advances, impairment losses of investments and general administrative expenses.  Each type of expense is separately disclosed in order that users can assess the performance of a bank.


10.
Income and expense items should not be offset except for those relating to assets and liabilities and to hedges which have been offset in accordance with paragraph 19.

11.
Offsetting in cases other than those relating to hedges and to assets and liabilities which have been offset as described in paragraph 19 prevents users from assessing the performance of the separate activities of a bank and the return that it obtains on  particular classes of assets.


12.
Gains and losses arising from each of the following should be reported on a net basis:


(a)   
disposals of dealing securities; 

(b)     disposals of investment securities; and


(c)     dealings in foreign currencies.


13.
Interest income and interest expense are disclosed separately in order to give a better understanding of the composition of, and reasons for changes in, net interest.

14. Net interest is a result of both interest rates and the amounts of borrowing and lending. It is very useful if management provides a commentary about average interest rates, average interest earning assets and average liabilities for the period.  In cases where government provides interest subsidization, the extent of subsidized deposits and facilities and their effect on net income should be disclosed in the financial statements.


Balance sheet


15. A bank should present a balance sheet that groups assets and liabilities by nature and lists them in the descending order of their relative liquidity. 

16. In addition to the requirements of other Vietnamese accounting standards, the disclosures in the balance sheet or the notes to the financial statements should include, but are not limited to, the following assets and liabilities:

Assets 

- Cash, jewels and gemstones;


- Deposits at State Bank;


-Treasury bills and other bills eligible for rediscounting with the State Bank;


- Government bonds and other securities held for trading;


- Placements with, and loans and advances to other banks;


- Other money market placements;


- Loans and advances to customers; and


- Equity investment.


Liabilities

- Deposits from other banks;


- Other money market deposits;


- Deposits from customers;


- Certificates of deposits;


- Promissory notes and other liabilities evidenced by paper; and


- Other borrowed funds.


17. 
The most useful approach to the classification of the assets and liabilities of a bank is to group them by their nature and list them in the approximate order of their liquidity which may equate broadly to their maturities.  Current and non-current items are not presented separately because most assets and liabilities of a bank can be realised or settled in the near future. 


18.
The distinction between balances with other banks and those with other parts of the money market and from other depositors is relevant information because it gives an understanding of a bank's relations with, and dependence on, other banks and the money market.  Hence, a bank discloses separately:


(a)     balances with the State Bank;


(b)     placements with other banks;


(c)     other money market placements;


(d)     deposits from other banks;


(e)     other money market deposits; and


19. 
Any asset or liability in the balance sheet should not be offset by the deduction of another liability or asset unless a legal right of set-off exists and the offsetting represents the expectation as to the realisation or settlement of the asset or liability.


Off Balance Sheet Contingencies and Commitments 


20. A bank should disclose the following contingent liabilities and commitments:

(a)  the nature and amount of commitments to extend credit that are irrevocable because they cannot be withdrawn at the discretion of the bank without the risk of incurring significant penalty or expense; and

(b)  the nature and amount of contingent liabilities and commitments arising from off balance sheet items including those relating to:

(i) credit substitutes including general guarantees of indebtedness, bank acceptance guarantees and standby letters of credit serving as financial guarantees for loans and securities;

(ii) certain transaction-related contingent liabilities including performance bonds, bid bonds, other warranties and standby letters of credit related to particular (special) transactions;

(iii)   short-term contingent liabilities arising from the movement of goods, such as documentary credits where the underlying shipment is used as security;

(vi)  other commitments, note issuance facilities.

21. Many banks also enter into transactions that are presently not recognised as assets or liabilities in the balance sheet but which give rise to contingencies and commitments.  Such off balance sheet items often represent an important part of the business of a bank and may have a significant bearing on the level of risk to which the bank is exposed.  These items may add to, or reduce, other risks, for example by hedging assets or liabilities on the balance sheet. 


22. The users of the financial statements need to know about the contingencies and irrevocable commitments of a bank in order to assess its liquidity and solvency and the inherent possibility of potential losses.  

Maturities of Assets and Liabilities


23. A bank should disclose an analysis of assets and liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date. 


24. The matching and controlled mismatching of the maturities and interest rates of assets and liabilities is fundamental to the management of a bank.  It is unusual for banks ever to be completely matched since business transacted is often of uncertain term and of different types.  An unmatched position potentially enhances profitability but can also increase the risk of losses.


25. The maturities of assets and liabilities and the ability to replace, at an acceptable cost, interest-bearing liabilities as they mature, are important factors in assessing the liquidity of a bank and its exposure to changes in interest rates and exchange rates.  In order to provide information that is relevant for the assessment of its liquidity, a bank discloses, as a minimum, an analysis of assets and liabilities into relevant maturity groupings.


26. The maturity groupings applied to individual assets and liabilities differ between banks and in their appropriateness to particular assets and liabilities.  Examples of periods used include the following:


(a)     up to 1 month;


(b)     from 1 month to 3 months;


(c)     from 3 months to 1 year;


(d)     from 1 year to 3 years; and


(e)     from 3 years to 5 years; and.


(e)     from 5 years and over.


Frequently the periods are combined, for example, in the case of loans and advances, by grouping those under one year and those over one year.  When repayment is spread over a period of time, each instalment is allocated to the period in which it is contractually agreed or expected to be paid or received.


27. The maturity periods adopted by a bank should be the same for assets and liabilities.  This makes clear the extent to which the maturities are matched and the consequent dependence of the bank on other sources of liquidity. 


28. Maturities could be expressed in terms of:


(a)     the remaining period to the repayment date;


(b)     the original period to the repayment date; or


(c)     the remaining period to the next date at which interest rates may be changed.


The analysis of assets and liabilities by their remaining periods to the repayment dates provides the best basis to evaluate the liquidity of a bank.  A bank may also disclose repayment maturities based on the original period to the repayment date in order to provide information about its funding and business strategy.  In addition, a bank may disclose maturity groupings based on the remaining period to the next date at which interest rates may be changed in order to demonstrate its exposure to interest rate risks.  Management may also provide, in its commentary on the financial statements, information about interest rate exposure and about the way it manages and controls such exposures.


29. In practice, demand deposits and advances are often maintained for long periods without withdrawal or repayment; hence, the effective date of repayment is later than the contractual date.  Nevertheless, a bank discloses an analysis expressed in terms of contractual maturities even though the contractual repayment period is often not the effective period because contractual dates reflect the liquidity risks attaching to the bank's assets and liabilities.


30. Some assets of a bank do not have a contractual maturity date.  The period in which these assets are assumed to mature is usually taken as the expected date on which the assets will be realised.


31. The evaluation of the liquidity of a bank from its disclosure of maturity groupings should be made in the context of local banking practices, including the availability of funds to banks.  


32. In order to provide users with a full understanding of the maturity groupings of assets and liabilities, the disclosures in the financial statements may need to be supplemented by information as to the likelihood of repayment within the remaining period.  Hence, management may provide, in its commentary on the financial statements, information about the effective periods and about the way it manages and controls the risks and exposures associated with different maturity and interest rate profiles.


Concentrations of Assets, Liabilities and Off Balance Sheet Items


33. A bank should disclose any significant concentrations of its assets, liabilities and off balance sheet items.  Such disclosures should be made in terms of geographical areas, customer or industry groups or other concentrations of risk.  A bank should also disclose any significant net foreign currency exposures. 

34. A bank should disclose significant concentrations in the distribution of its assets and liabilities because it is a useful indication of the potential risks inherent in the realisation of the assets and liabilities of the bank.  Such disclosures are made in terms of geographical areas, customer or industry groups or other concentrations of risk which are appropriate in the circumstances of the bank.  A similar analysis and explanation of off balance sheet items is also important.  Such disclosures are made in addition to any segment information required by VAS 28, Segment Reporting.


35. The disclosure of significant net foreign currency exposures is also a useful indication of the risk of loan losses arising from changes in exchange rates.


Loss on Loans and Advances  


36. A bank should disclose in its financial statements the following:

(a)   the accounting policy which describes the basis on which uncollectible loans and advances are recognised as an expense and written off;


(b)   details of the movements in the provision for losses on loans and advances during the period.  It should disclose separately the amount recognised as an expense in the period for losses on uncollectible loans and advances, the amount charged in the period for loans and advances written off and the amount credited in the period for loans and advances previously written off that have been recovered;


(c)   the aggregate amount of the provision for losses on loans and advances at the balance sheet date.

37. Any amounts set aside in respect of loss provision on loans and advances in addition to those losses that have been recognised in accordance with Accounting standard on Financial Instruments should be accounted for as appropriations of retained earnings.  Any credits resulting from the reduction of such amounts should be accounted for as an increase in retained earnings and are not included in the determination of net profit or loss for the period.


38. A bank is allow to set aside amounts for losses on loans and advances in addition to those losses that have been recognised in accordance with Accounting standard on Financial Instruments. Any such amounts should be accounted for as appropriations of retained earnings.  Any credits resulting from the reduction of such amounts should be accounted for as an increase in retained earnings and are not included in the determination of net profit or loss for the period.

39. Users of the financial statements of a bank need to know the impact that losses on loans and advances have had on the financial position and performance of the bank. This helps them judge the effectiveness with which the bank has employed its resources.  Therefore a bank discloses the aggregate amount of the provision for losses on loans and advances at the balance sheet date and the movements in the provision during the period.  The movements in the provision, including the amounts previously written off that have been recovered during the period, are shown separately.


40. When loans and advances cannot be recovered, they are written off and charged against the provision for losses.  In some cases, they are not written off until all the necessary legal procedures have been completed and the amount of the loss is finally determined.  In other cases, they are written off earlier, for example when the borrower has not paid any interest or repaid any principal that was due in a specified period.  As the time at which uncollectable loans and advances are written off differs, the gross amount of loans and advances and of the provisions for losses may vary considerably in similar circumstances.  As a result, a bank discloses its policy for writing off uncollectable loans and advances


General Banking Risks 


41. Any amounts set aside for general banking risks, including future losses and other unforeseeable risks or contingencies should be separately disclosed as appropriations of retained earnings.  Any credits resulting from the reduction of such amounts result in an increase in retained earnings and should not be included in the determination of net profit or loss for the period.


42. A bank is allowed to set aside amounts for general banking risks, including future losses or other unforeseeable risks, in addition to the charges for losses on loans and advances determined in accordance with paragraph 38.  A bank is also allowed to set aside amounts for contingencies. Such amounts for general banking risks and contingencies do not qualify for recognition as provisions under Accounting standard  Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets. Therefore, a bank recognises such amounts as appropriations of retained earnings. This is necessary to avoid the overstatement of liabilities, understatement of assets, undisclosed accruals and provisions which create the opportunity to distort net income and equity.


43. The income statement cannot present relevant and reliable information about the performance of a bank if net profit or loss for the period includes the effects of undisclosed amounts set aside for general banking risks or additional contingencies, or undisclosed credits resulting from the reversal of such amounts.  Similarly, the balance sheet cannot provide relevant and reliable information about the financial position of a bank if the balance sheet includes overstated liabilities, understated assets or undisclosed accruals and provisions.


Assets Pledged as Security 


44. A bank should disclose the aggregate amount of secured liabilities and the nature and carrying amount of the assets pledged as security.

45. Banks are required  to pledge assets as security to support certain deposits and other liabilities.  The amounts involved are often substantial and so may have a significant impact on the assessment of the financial position of a bank.


Trust Activities


46. Banks commonly act as trustees that result in the holding or placing of assets on behalf of individuals, trusts and other institutions. Provided the trustee or similar relationship is legally supported, these assets are not assets of the bank and, therefore, are not included in its balance sheet.  If the bank is engaged in significant trust activities, disclosure of that fact and an indication of the extent of those activities is made in its financial statements because of the potential liability if it fails in its fiduciary duties.  For this purpose, trust activities do not encompass safe custody functions.


Related Party Transactions


47. Certain transactions between related parties may be effected on different terms from those with unrelated parties.  For example, a bank may advance a larger sum or charge lower interest rates to a related party than it would in otherwise identical circumstances to an unrelated party. Similarily, advances or deposits may be moved between related parties more quickly and with less formality than is possible when unrelated parties are involved.  Even when related party transactions arise in the ordinary course of a bank's business, information about such transactions is relevant to the needs of users and its disclosure is required by VAS 26 – Related Party Disclosure.


48. When a bank has entered into transactions with related parties, it should disclose the nature of the related party relationship, the types of transactions, and the existing balances necessary for an understanding of significant impacts and relation to the financial statements of the bank.  The elements that would normally be disclosed to conform with VAS 26 include a bank's lending policy to related parties.


In respect of related party transactions, the banks should disclosure the following quantitative information:


(a) each of loans and advances, deposits, acceptances and issued notes; disclosures include the aggregate amounts outstanding at the beginning and end of the period, as well as advances, deposits, repayments and other changes during the period;


(b) each of the principal types of income, interest expense and commissions payable;


(c) the aggregate amount of the expense recognised in the period for losses on loans and advances and the aggregate amount of the provision at the balance sheet date; and


(d) irrevocable commitments and contingencies and commitments arising from off balance sheet items.
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VIETNAMESE STANDARDS ON ACCOUNTING

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

STANDARD 17

iNCOME TAXES

(Issued in pursuance of the Minister of Finance Decision No. 12/2005/QD-BTC 


dated 15 February 2005)

GENERAL 


01. The objective of this standard is to prescribe accounting principles and accounting treatment for income taxes. Accounting for income taxes includes accounting for  the current and future income tax consequences of:


a) the future recovery or settlement of the carrying amount of assets or liabilities that are recognized in an enterprise’s balance sheet; and  


b) Transactions and other events of the current period that are recognized in an enterprise’s income statement.


It is inherent in the recognition of an asset or liability in the financial statements, enterprise expects to recover or settle the carrying amount of that asset or liability. If it is probable that recovery or settlement of that carrying amount will make future tax payments larger or smaller than they would be if such recovery or settlement were to have no tax consequences, this Standard requires an enterprise to recognize a deferred tax liability or deferred tax asset, with certain limited exceptions.


This Standard requires an enterprise to account for the tax consequences of transactions and other events in the same way that it accounts for the transactions and other events themselves. Thus, for transactions and other events recognized in the income statement, any related tax effects are also recognized in the income statement. For transactions and other events recognized directly in equity, any related tax effects are also recognized directly in equity. 


This Standard also deals with the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses or unused tax credits and the presentation of income taxes in the financial statements and the disclosure of information relating to income taxes.


02. This standard should be applied in accounting for income taxes


Income taxes include all income taxes which are based on taxable profits including profits generated from production and trading activities in other countries that the Socialist Republic of Vietnam has not signed any double tax relief agreement. Income taxes also include other related taxes, such as withholding taxes on foreign individuals or organizations with no permanent standing in Vietnam when they receives dividends or distribution from their partnership, associates, joint venture or subsidiary; or making a payment for services provided by foreign contractors in accordance with regulations of the prevailing Law on corporate income taxes.


03. The following terms are used in this Standard with the meanings specified:



Accounting profit: is net profit or loss for a period before deducting tax expense, determined in accordance with the rules of accounting standards and accounting system. 



Taxable profit: is the taxable profit for a period, determined in accordance with the rules of the current Law on Income taxes, upon which income taxes are payable or recoverable.



Income tax expense (tax income): is the aggregate amount of current income tax expense (income) and deferred income tax expense (income) included in the determination of profit or loss for the period. 



Current income tax:is the amount of income taxes payable or recoverable in respect of the current year taxable profit and the current tax rates.



Deferred income tax liabilities:are the amounts of income taxes payable in future periods in respect of taxable temporary differences in the current year.



Deferred income tax assets: are the amounts of income taxes recoverable in future periods in respect of:


a) deductible temporary differences;


b) the carry forward of unused tax losses; and


c) the carry forward of unused tax credits. 


Temporary differences: are differences between the carrying amount of an asset or liability in the balance sheet and its tax base. Temporary differences may be either:


a) Taxable temporary differences, which are temporary differences that will result in taxable amounts in determining taxable profit of future periods when the carrying amount of the asset or liability is recovered or settled; or


b) Deductible temporary differences, which are temporary differences that will result in amounts that are deductible in determining taxable profit of future periods when the carrying amount of asset of liability is recovered or settled.


The tax base of an asset or liability is the amount attributed to that asset or liability for tax purposes.


Income tax expense comprises current tax expense and deferred tax expense. Tax income comprises current tax income and deferred tax income. 


CONTENT

Tax base


04. The tax base of an asset is the amount that will be deductible for tax purposes against any taxable economic benefits that will flow to an enterprise when it recovers the carrying amount of the asset. If those economic benefits will not be taxable, the tax base of the asset is equal to its carrying amount.


Examples:


(1) A fixed asset has historical cost of 100: for tax purposes, depreciation of 30 has already been deducted in the current and prior periods and the remaining cost will be deductible in future periods, either as depreciation or through a deduction on disposal. Revenue generated by using the asset is taxable, any gain on disposal of the machine will be taxable and any loss on disposal will be deductible for tax purposes. The tax base of the asset is 70.


(2)
Trade receivables have a carrying amount of 100. The related revenue has already been included in taxable profit (tax loss). The tax base of the trade receivables is 100.


(3)
Dividends receivable from a subsidiary have a carrying amount of 100. The dividends are not taxable. In substance, the entire carrying amount of the asset is deductible against the economic benefits.  Consequently, the tax base of the dividends receivable is 100.


(In the above example, there is no taxable temporary difference. It could also be explained as follows:  the tax base of dividends receivable is nil and tax rate of 0% applied to taxable temporary difference of 100. Under both cases, there is no deferred tax liability).

(4)
A loan receivable has a carrying amount of 100. The repayment of the loan will have no tax consequences. The tax base of the loan is 100.


05. The tax base of a liability is its carrying amount, less any amount that will be deductible for tax purposes in respect of that liability in future periods. In the case of revenue which is received in advance, the tax base of the resulting liability is its carrying amount, less any amount of the revenue that will not be taxable in future periods.


Examples:


(1) Current liabilities include accrued expenses for employment benefits with a carrying amount of 100. The related expense will be deducted for tax purposes on a cash basis. The tax base of the accrued expenses is nil.


(2)
Current liabilities include interest revenue received in advance, with a carrying amount of 100. The related interest revenue was taxes on a cash basis. The tax base of the interest received in advance is nil.


(3)
Current liabilities include accruals for telephone, water and electricity expenses, with a carrying amount of 100. The accrued expenses have already been deducted for tax purposes in the current year. The tax base of the accrued expenses is 100.


(4)
Current liability includes accrued fines with a carrying amount of 100. Fines are not deductible for tax purposes. The tax base of the accrued fines is 100.



In the above example, there is no deductible temporary difference. It could also be explained as follow: tax base of the fine is nil and tax rate of 0% applied to deductible temporary difference of 100. Under both cases, there is no deferred tax asset.


(5) A loan payable has a carrying amount of 100. The repayment of the loan will have no tax consequences. The tax base of the loan is 100.


06. Some items have a tax base but are not recognized as assets and liabilities in the balance sheet. For example, cost of supplies and tools are recognized as an expense in determining accounting profit in the period in which they are incurred but will only be permitted as a deduction in determining taxable profit (tax loss) until a later period. The difference between the tax base of the cost of supplies and tools, being the amount the taxation authorities will permit as a deduction in future periods, and the carrying amount of nil is a deductible temporary difference that results in a deferred tax asset.


07. Where the tax base of an asset or liability is not immediately apparent, it is helpful to consider the fundamental principle upon which this Standard is based: that an enterprise should, with certain limited exceptions, recognize a deferred tax liability (asset) whenever recovery or settlement of the carrying amount of an asset or liability would make future tax payments larger (smaller) than income tax payable in the current year if such recovery or settlement were to have no tax consequences.

Recognition of current tax liabilities and current tax assets


08. Current tax for current and prior periods should, to the extent unpaid, be recognized as a liability. If the amount already paid in respect of current and prior periods exceeds the amount due for those periods, the excess should be recognized as an asset.


Recognition of deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets.


Taxable Temporary Differences


09. A deferred tax liability should be recognized for all taxable temporary differences, unless the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which at the time of the transaction, affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit (tax loss).


010. The recognition base of an asset is the carrying amount of that asset that will be recovered in the form of economic benefits that flow to the enterprise in future periods. When the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its tax base, the amount of taxable economic benefits will exceed the amount that will be allowed as a deduction for tax purposes. This difference is a taxable temporary difference and the obligation to pay the resulting income taxes in future periods is a deferred tax liability. As the enterprise recovers the carrying amount of the asset, the taxable temporary difference will reserve and the enterprise will have taxable profit. This makes it probable that economic benefits will be decreased due to tax payments. Therefore, this Standard requires the recognition of all deferred tax liabilities, except in certain circumstances described in paragraph 09.


Example:


A fixed asset which cost 150 has a carrying amount of 100. Cumulative depreciation for tax purposes is 90 and the tax rate is 28%.


The tax base of the asset is 60 (cost of 150 less cumulative tax depreciation of 90). To recover the carrying amount of 100, the enterprise must earn taxable income of 100, but will only be able to deduct tax depreciation of 60. Consequently, the enterprise will pay income taxes of 11.2 (40 at 28%) when it recovers the carrying amount of the asset. The difference between the carrying amount of 100 and the tax base of 60 is a taxable temporary difference of 40. Therefore, the enterprise recognizes a deferred tax liability of 11.2 (40 at 28%) representing the income taxes that it will pay when it recovers the carrying amount of the asset.


011. Some temporary differences arise when income or expense is included in accounting profit in one period but is included in taxable profit in a different period. Such temporary differences are often described as timing differences. These temporary differences are taxable temporary differences and will result in deferred tax liabilities.


Example:


Depreciation used in determining taxable profit (tax loss) may differ from that used in determining accounting profit. The temporary difference is the difference between the carrying amount of the asset and its tax base which is the original cost of the asset less all deductions in respect of that asset permitted by the tax law in determining taxable profit of the current and prior periods. A taxable temporary difference arises, and results in a deferred tax liability, when tax depreciation is more accelerated than accounting depreciation (if tax depreciation is less rapid than accounting depreciation, a deductible temporary difference arises, and results in a deferred tax asset).


Initial recognition of  an asset and liability


012. A temporary difference may arise on initial recognition of an asset or liability, for example if part or all of the cost of an asset will not be deductible for tax purposes. The method of accounting for such a temporary difference depends on the nature of the transaction which led to the initial recognition of the asset.


If the transaction affects either accounting profit or taxable profit, an enterprise recognizes any deferred tax liability or asset and recognizes the resulting deferred tax expense or income in the income statement (see paragraph 41)


 Deductible Temporary Differences


13 A deferred tax asset shall be recognized for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary difference can be utilised, unless the deferred tax asset arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which at the time of transaction, affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit (tax loss).



14. It is inherent in the recognition of a liability that the carrying amount will be settled in future periods through an outflow from the enterprise of resources embodying economic benefits. When resources flow from the enterprise, part or all of their amounts may be deductible in determining taxable profit of a period later than the period in which the liability is recognized. In such cases, a temporary difference exists between the carrying amount of the liability and its tax base. Accordingly, a deferred tax asset arises in respect of the income taxes that will be recoverable in the future periods when that part of the liability is allowed as a deduction in determining taxable profit.

Similarly, if the carrying amount of an asset is less than its tax base, the difference gives rise to a deferred tax asset in respect of the income taxes that will be recoverable in future periods.


Example:


An enterprise recognizes a liability of 100 for accrued product warranty costs. For tax purposes, the product warranty costs will not be deductible until the enterprise pays claims. The tax rate is 28%.


The tax base of the liability is nil (carrying amount of 100, less the amount that will be deductible for tax purposes in respect of that liability in future periods). In settling the liability for its carrying amount, the enterprise will reduce its future taxable profit by an amount of 100 and, consequently, reduce its future tax payments by 28 (100 at 28%). The difference between the carrying amount of 100 and the tax base of nil is a deductible temporary difference of 100. Therefore, the enterprise recognizes a deferred tax asset of 28 (100 at 28%), provided that it is probable that the enterprise will earn sufficient taxable profit in future periods to benefit from a reduction in tax payments.


15.Deductible temporary differences result in deferred tax assets, for instance:


Accrual maintenance expense for fixed assets may be deducted in determining accounting profit but deducted in determining taxable profit when these costs are actually paid by the enterprise. In this case, a temporary difference exists between the carrying amount of the accrual expense and its tax base. Such a deductible temporary difference results in a deferred tax assets as economic benefits will flow to the enterprise in the form of a deduction from taxable profits when accrual expense is paid.


16.
The reversal of deductible temporary differences results in deductions in determining taxable profits in future periods. However, economic benefits in the form of reductions in tax payments will flow to the enterprise only if it earns sufficient taxable profits against which the deductions can be offset. Therefore, an enterprise recognizes deferred tax assets only when it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which the deductible temporary differences can be utilised.


17.
It is probable that taxable profit will be available against which a deductible temporary difference can be utilised when there are sufficient taxable temporary differences relating to the same taxation authority and the same taxable entity which are expected to reverse:


a. in the same period as the expected reversal of the deductible temporary difference; or


b. in periods into which a tax loss arising from the deferred tax asset can be carried forward.


In such circumstances, the deferred tax asset is recognized in the period in which the deductible temporary differences arise.


18.
When there are insufficient taxable temporary differences relating to the same taxation authority and the same taxable entity, the deferred tax asset is recognized to the extent that:


a) it is probable that the enterprise will have sufficient taxable profit relating to the same taxation authority and the same taxable entity in the same period as the reversal of the deductible temporary difference (or in the periods into which a tax loss arising from the deferred tax asset can be carried forward). In evaluating whether it will have sufficient taxable profit in future periods, an enterprise ignores taxable amounts arising from deductible temporary differences that are expected to originate in future periods, because the deferred tax asset arising from these deductible temporary differences will itself require future taxable profit in order to be utilised; or

b) tax planning opportunities are available to the enterprise that will create taxable profit in appropriate periods.


19.
Tax planning opportunities are actions that the enterprise would take in order to create or increase taxable income in a particular period before the expiry of a tax loss or tax credit carry forward. For example, in some circumstances, taxable profit may be created or increased by:


(a)
deferring the claim for certain deductions from taxable profit;


(b) selling, and leasing back assets that have appreciated but for which the tax base has not been adjusted to reflect such appreciation; and


(c) selling an asset that generates non-taxable income (such as a government bond) in order to purchase another investment that generates taxable income.


When tax planning opportunities advance taxable profit from a later period to an earlier period, the utilisation of a tax loss or tax credit carry forward still depends on the existence of future taxable profit from sources other than future originating temporary differences.


20.
When an enterprise has a history of recent losses, the enterprise considers the guidance in paragraphs 22 and 23


Unused Tax Losses and Unused Tax Credits


21.
A deferred tax asset should be recognized for the carry forward of unused tax losses  and unused tax credits to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the unused tax losses and unused tax credits can be utilised.


22.
The criteria for recognising deferred tax assets arising from the carryforward of unused tax losses and tax credits are the same as the criteria for recognising deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences. However, the existence of unused tax losses is strong evidence that future taxable profit may not be available. Therefore, when an enterprise has a history of recent losses, the enterprise recognizes a deferred tax asset arising from unused tax losses or tax credits only to the extent that the enterprise has sufficient taxable temporary differences or there is convincing other evidence that sufficient taxable profit will be available against which the unused tax losses or unused tax losses or unused tax credits can be utilised by the enterprise. In such circumstances, the Standard requires disclosure of the amount of the deferred tax asset and the nature of the evidence supporting its recognition (see paragraph 59).


23.An enterprise considers the following criteria in assessing the probability that taxable profit will be available against which the carry forward tax losses or unused tax credits can be utilises:


a) whether the enterprise has sufficient taxable temporary differences relating to the same taxation authority and the same taxable entity, which will result in taxable amounts against which the unused tax losses or unused tax credits can be utilised before they expire;


b) whether it is probable that the enterprise will have taxable profits before the carry forward tax losses or unused tax credits expire;


c) whether the unused tax losses result from identifiable causes which are unlikely to recur; and


d) whether tax planning opportunities (see paragraph 19) are available to the enterprise that will create taxable profit in the period in which the unused tax losses or unused tax credits can be utilised.


To the extent that it is not probable that taxable profit will be available against which the unused tax losses or unused tax credits can be utilised, the deferred tax asset is not recognized. 


Re-assessment of unrecognized deferred tax assets


24. At each balance sheet date, an enterprise re-assesses unrecognized deferred tax assets. The enterprise recognizes a previously unrecognized deferred tax asset to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. For example, an improvement in trading conditions may make it more probable that the enterprise will be able to generate sufficient taxable profit in the future for the deferred tax asset to meet the recognition criteria set out in paragraphs 13 or 21.


Investments in subsidiaries, branches and associates and interests in Joint Ventures


25. An enterprise should recognize a deferred tax liability for all taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, branches and associates, and interests in joint ventures, except to the extent that both of the following conditions are satisfied:


(a) the parent, investor or venturer is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference; and


(b) it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.


26.
As a parent controls the dividend policy of its subsidiary, it is able to control the timing of the reversal of temporary differences associated with that investment (including the temporary differences arising not only from undistributed profits but also from any foreign exchange translation differences). Furthermore, it would often be impracticable to determine the amount of income taxes that would be payable when the temporary difference reverses. Therefore, when the parent has determined that those profits will not be distributed in the foreseeable future the parent does not recognize a deferred tax liability. The same considerations apply to investments in branches.


27. An enterprise accounts in its own currency for non-monetary assets and liabilities of a foreign operation that is integral to the enterprise’s operations (see VAS 10, The Effects of Changes in foreign exchange rates). 

Where the foreign operation’s taxable profit or tax loss (and, hence, the tax base of its non-monetary assets and liabilities) is determined in foreign currency, changes in the exchanges rate give rise to temporary differences. Because such temporary differences relate to the foreign operation’s own assets and liabilities, rather than to the reporting enterprise’s investment in that foreign operation, the reporting enterprise should recognizes the resulting deferred tax liability or (subject to paragraph 13) asset. The resulting deferred tax is reflected into the income statement (see paragraph 40).


28. An investor in an associate does not control that enterprise and is usually not in a position to determine its dividend policy. Therefore, in the absence of  an agreement requiring that the profits of the associate will not be distributed in the foreseeable future, an investor recognizes a deferred tax liability arising from taxable temporary differences associated with its investment in the associate. In some cases, an investor may not be able to determine the amount of tax that would be payable if it recovers the cost of its investment in an associate, but can determine that it will equal or exceed a minimum amount. In such cases, the deferred tax liability is measured at this amount.


29. The arrangement between the parties to a joint venture usually deals with the sharing of the profits and identifies whether decisions on such matters require the consent of all the ventures or a specified majority of the ventures. When the venturer can control the sharing of profits and it is probable that the profits will not be distributed in the foreseeable future, a deferred tax liability is not recognized. 


30. An enterprise should recognize a deferred tax asset for all deductible temporary differences arising from investments in subsidiaries, branches and associates, and interests in joint ventures, to the extent that, and only to the extent that, it is probable that:


a) the temporary difference will reverse in the foreseeable future; and 


b) taxable profit will be available against which the temporary difference can be utilised.


31. In deciding whether a deferred tax asset is recognized for deductible temporary differences associated with its investments in subsidiaries, branches and associates, and its interests in joint ventures, an enterprise considers the guidance set out in paragraph 17 to 20.


Measurement

32. Current tax liabilities (assets) for the current and prior periods should be measured at the amount expected to be paid to (recovered from) the taxation authorities, using the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.


33. Deferred tax assets and liabilities should be measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the financial year when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.


34. Current and deferred tax assets and liabilities are usually measured using the tax rates that have been enacted.


35. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets should reflect the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the enterprise expects, at the balances sheet date, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.


36. Deferred tax assets and liabilities should not be discounted.


37. The reliable determination of deferred tax assets and liabilities on a discounted basis requires detailed scheduling of the timing of the reversal of each temporary difference. In many cases such scheduling is impracticable or highly complex. Therefore, it is inappropriate to require discounting of deferred tax assets and liabilities. To permit, but not to require, discounting would result in deferred tax assets and liabilities which would not be comparable between enterprises. Therefore, this Standard does not require or permit the discounting of deferred tax assets and liabilities.

38. The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset should be reviewed at each balance sheet date. An enterprise should reduce the carrying amount of a deferred tax asset to the extent that is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow the benefit of part or all of that deferred tax asset to be utilized. Any such reduction should be reversed to the extent that it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available.


Recognition of Current and Deferred Tax


39.
Accounting for the current and deferred tax effects of a transaction or other event is consistent with the accounting for the transaction or even itself which is addressed from paragraph 40 to 47.


Income Statement

39. Current and deferred tax should be recognized as income or an expense and included in  profit or loss for the period, except to the extend that the tax arises from a transaction or event which is recognized, in the same or a different period, directly in equity (see paragraphs 43 to 47).


40. Most deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets arise where income or expense is included in the accounting profit in one period, but is included in taxable profit (tax loss) in a different period. The resulting deferred tax is recognized in the income statement. Examples are when:


(a)
Foreign exchange gain from revaluation at the end of the fiscal year is included in accounting profit in accordance with VAS 10 “Effects of  Changes in foreign exchange rates”, but is included in taxable profit (tax loss) on a cash basis; and


(b)
Cost of tools and supplies is charged to the income statement in accordance with VAS 02 “Inventory” but should be regularly allocated for tax purposes.


42. The carrying amount of deferred tax assets and liabilities may change even though there is no change in the amount of the related temporary differences. This can result, for example, from:


(a)
A change in tax rates or corporate income tax law;


(b) Re-assessment of the recoverability of deferred tax assets; or


(c)
A change in the manner of recovery of an asset.


The resulting deferred tax is recognized in the income statement, except to the extent that it relates to items previously charged or credited to equity (see paragraph 45).


Items Credited or Charged Directly to Equity  


43. Current tax and deferred tax should be charged or credited directly to equity if the tax relates to items that are credited or charged, in the same or a different period, directly to equity.


44. Vietnamese Accounting Standards require or permit certain items to be credited or charged to equity. Examples of such items are:


(a)
An adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings resulting from either a change in accounting policies that is applied retrospectively or the correction of an error (see VAS 29 “Changes in accounting policies, accounting estimates and errors”);


(b)
Exchange differences arising on the translation of the financial statements of a foreign entity (see VAS 10 “Effects of Changes in foreign exchange rates”).


45. In exceptional circumstances it may be difficult to determine the amount of current and deferred tax that relates to items credited or charged to equity. This may be the case, for example, when:


(a)
A change in tax rates or other tax rules affects a deferred tax asset or liability relating (in whole or in part) to an item that was previously charged or credited to equity; or


(b)
An enterprise determines that a deferred tax asset should be recognized, or should no longer be recognized in full, and the deferred tax asset relates (in whole or in part) to an item that was previously charged or credited to equity.


In such cases, the current and deferred tax related to items that are credited or charged to equity is based on a reasonable pro- rata allocation of the current and deferred tax of the entity in the tax jurisdiction concerned, or other methods that achieve a more appropriate allocation in the circumstances.


46. When an asset is revaluated for tax purposes and that revaluation relates to an accounting revaluation of an earlier period, or to one that is expected to be carried out in a future period, the tax effects of both the asset revaluation and the adjustment of the tax base are credited or charged to equity in the periods in which they occur. However, if the revaluation for tax purpose is not related to an accounting revaluation of an earlier period, or to one that is expected to be carried out in a future period, the tax effect of the adjustment of the tax base is recognized in the income statement.


47. When an enterprise pays to any foreign organizations, foreign individuals that are non-resident in Vietnam, it must be required to pay a portion of income tax to tax authorities on behalf of these foreign organizations or individuals. In current jurisdictions, this amount is referred to as a withholding tax. Such amounts paid or payable to taxation authority is charged to equity as a part of dividends or interests.


Presentation


Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities


48. Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities should be presented separately from other assets and liabilities in the balance sheet. Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities should be distinguished from current tax assets and current tax liabilities.


49. When an enterprise classifies its assets and liabilities as current and non-current assets and liabilities in its financial statements, the enterprise should not classify deferred tax assets (liabilities) as current assets (liabilities)


Offset


50. An enterprise should offset current tax assets and current tax liabilities if, and only if, the enterprise:


a) has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognized amounts; and


b)
intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.


51. An enterprise should offset deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities if, and only if:


a) the enterprise has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities; and


b) the deferred tax assets and the deferred  tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either:


i) the same taxable entity; or


ii) different taxable entities which intend either settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered.


52. To avoid the reversal of each temporary difference, this Standard requires an enterprise to set off a deferred tax asset against a deferred tax liability of the same taxable entity if, and only if, they relate to income taxes payable levied by the same taxation authority and the enterprise has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities.


53. In rare circumstances, an enterprise may have a legally enforceable right of set-off on a net basis for some particular financial years. In such rare circumstances, detailed scheduling may be required to establish reliably whether the deferred tax liability of one taxable entity will result in increased tax payments in the same period in which a deferred tax asset of another taxable entity will result in decreased payments by that second taxable entity.


Tax expense


Tax Expense (Income) related to Profit or Loss from Ordinary Activities.


54. The tax expense (income) related to profit or loss from ordinary activities shall be presented in the income statement.


Foreign exchange differences arising from deferred tax liabilities or assets in oversea

55. VAS 10, “The Effects of Changes in foreign exchange rates”, requires certain foreign exchange differences to be recognized as income or expense but does not specify where such differences should be presented in the income statement. Accordingly, foreign exchange differences arising from deferred tax liabilities or assets in oversea are recognized in the income statement and they may be classified as deferred tax expense (income) if that presentation is considered to be the most useful to financial statement users.


Disclosure


56. The major components of tax expense (income) should be disclosed separately.


57. The major components of tax expense (income) may include:


a) current tax expense (income);


b) any adjustments recognized in the period for current tax of prior periods;


c) the amount of deferred tax expense (income) relating to the origination and reversal of temporary differences;  


d) the amount of deferred tax expense (income) relating to changes in tax rates or the imposition of new taxes;


e) the amount of the benefit arising from a previously unrecognized tax loss, tax credit or temporary difference of a prior period that is used to reduce current tax expense;


f) the amount of the benefit from a previously unrecognized tax loss, tax credit or temporary difference of a prior period that is used to reduce deferred tax expense;


g) deferred tax expense arising from the write-down, or reversal of a previous write-down, of a deferred tax asset in accordance with paragraph 38.


58. The following should also be disclosed separately:


a) the aggregate current and deferred tax relating to items that are charged or credited to equity;


b) an explanation of the relationship between tax expense (income) and accounting profit in either or both of the following forms:


(i) a numerical reconciliation between tax expense (income) and the product of accounting profit multiplied by the applicable tax rate(s), disclosing also the basis on which the applicable tax rate(s) is (are) computed; or


(ii) a numerical reconciliation between the average effective tax rate and the applicable tax rate, disclosing also the basis on which the applicable tax rate is computed;


c) an explanation of changes in the applicable tax rate(s) compared to the previous accounting period;


d) the amount (and expiry date, if any) of deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses, and unused tax credits for which no deferred tax asset is recognized in the balance sheet;


e) Temporary differences, each type of unused tax losses and tax credits:


f) the amount of the deferred tax assets and liabilities recognized in the balance sheet for each period presented;


g) the amount of the deferred tax income or expense recognized in the income statement, if this is not apparent from the changes in the amounts recognized in the balance sheet; and


h) in respect of discontinued operations. the tax expense relating to:


(i)
the gain or loss on discontinuance; and 


(ii) the profit or loss for the period of the discontinued operation, together with the corresponding amounts for each prior period presented


59. An enterprise should disclose the amount of a deferred tax asset and the nature of the evidence supporting its recognition, when:


a) the utilisation of the deferred tax asset is dependent on future taxable profits in excess of the profits arising from the reversal of existing taxable temporary differences.  


b)
the enterprise has suffered a loss in either the current or preceding period in the tax jurisdiction to which the deferred tax asset relates.

60. The disclosure required by paragraph 58 (c) enable users of financial statement to understand whether the relationship between tax expense (income) and accounting profit is unusual and to understand the significant factors that could affect  that relationship in the future. The relationship between tax expense (income) and accounting profit  may be affected by such factors as revenue that is exempt from taxation, expenses that are not deductible in determining taxable profit (tax loss), the effect of tax losses and the effect of foreign tax rates.


61. In explaining the relationship between tax expense (income) and accounting profit at current tax rate, it provides the most meaningful information to the users of enterprise’s financial statements. 


62. The average effective tax rate is the tax expense (income) divided by the accounting profit.


63. It would often be impracticable to compute the amount of unrecognized deferred tax liabilities arising from investments in subsidiaries, branches and associates and interests in joint venture. Therefore, this Standard requires an enterprise to disclose the aggregate amount of the underlying temporary differences but does not require disclosure of the deferred tax liabilities. Nevertheless, where practicable, enterprises are encouraged to disclose the amounts of the unrecognized deferred tax liabilities because financial statement users may find such information useful.


64. Where changes in tax rates or tax laws are enacted or announced after the balance sheet date, an enterprise discloses any significant effect of those changes on its current and deferred tax assets and liabilities (see VAS 23 “Events after the balance sheet date”).
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